TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS OF MULTICULTURAL LITERACY AS A MEANS TO ENGAGE AFRICAN AMERICAN MALES IN GRADES 5-8

A Dissertation

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Language, Literacy, and Special Populations

Sam Houston State University

In Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

by

Ashley Murray

August 2020

TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS OF MULTICULTURAL LITERACY AS A MEANS TO ENGAGE AFRICAN AMERICAN MALES IN GRADES 5-8

by

Ashley Murray

APPROVED:

Dr. Nancy Votteler Committee Director

Dr. Debra Price Committee Member

Dr. Daphne Johnson Committee Member

Dr. Frank Creghan Committee Member

Dr. Stacey L. Edmonson Dean, College of Education

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated in honor of my hard-working parents, Tony and Molly Doughtie. They instilled in me, at an early age, the importance of education and to persevere through all of life's challenges.

Also, to my husband, Drae Murray, who is my voice of reason and my biggest cheerleader. You continue to motivate me throughout this thing called life while still making me smile.

Last, but certainly not least, my children. Brett, Bliss, and Nia I wrote this for you all. Dream big! Nothing in life is ever too far out of reach.

ABSTRACT

Murray, Ashley, *Teachers' Perceptions of Multicultural Literacy as a Means to Engage African American Males in Grades 5-8.* Doctor of Education (Literacy), August, 2020, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas.

The purpose of this study was to explore the perceptions of six Language Arts teachers of the use of multicultural literacy as a way to engage young African American males in fifth through eighth grade. Emphasis was placed on factors such as the teacher's knowledge on multicultural literacy, as well as teacher practices and beliefs on culturally relevant teaching, and authentic literacy experiences to better meet the literacy needs of young African American males. Data collection consisted of semi-structured interviews.

Data were triangulated with many techniques including In Vivo coding (Saldana, 2013) and thematic analysis. The themes that emerged through data analysis were lack of time, lack of instructional resources, culturally responsive training needed, and lack of student motivation. Findings revealed that teachers are aware of the importance of multicultural literacy and engagement of young African American males, but the expectations at a local and state level may play a factor into teachers' perceptions of implementing multicultural literacy. Implications for further research include recommendations for culturally responsive training for all teachers and teacher advocacy for multicultural literacy. Future research might investigate student and teacher perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage young African American males in grades 5-8 through a mixed-methods study.

KEY WORDS: Multicultural literacy, Engagement. Young African American males, Grades 5-8.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to my husband, Drae, for always believing in me and encouraging me throughout this entire process. To my children; Brett, Bliss, and Nia for cheering me on and having patience with me during this time. To my parents for always motivating me and allowing me to never give up on my dreams. These last four years have not been easy, but you all have stood my side and I cannot thank you all enough.

I would like to thank the chair of the committee, Dr. Votteler, for her support and guidance during this process. You are an absolute joy to work with and you made this process seamless. For that, I am forever grateful. Additionally, I would like to thank the committee members, Dr. Debra Price, Dr. Daphne Johnson, and Dr. Frank Creghan for your time and expertise. Your words of encouragement and feedback were so helpful throughout this process.

I would also like to thank those who took part in this study and made it a reality for me. I appreciate your time, patience and willingness to help.

PREFACE

I hope this study sheds light on how we, as educators, can improve our teaching, especially for our young African American males.

It has been proven that:

- 1) We should build relationships with all of our students, especially our young African American males.
- 2) We should show all of our students that we care about them and have high expectations for them, especially our young African American males.
- 3) We should spend time hand selecting literature for our students that will meet the literacy needs of all of our students and empower them to go forth and be better citizens, especially our young African American males.
- 4) We will continue to be lifelong learners and educate ourselves on culturally responsive practices and engagement strategies, so we can close the achievement gaps in Reading, especially for our young African males.

As I conclude, I want to add that ALL students matter, especially our young African American males.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
DEDICATION	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
PREFACE	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Proposal to the Background	1
Historical Background	2
Statement of the Problem	3
Theoretical Framework	6
Purpose of the Study	10
Research Questions	11
Limitations	11
Organization of the Study	11
CHAPTER II: BRIEF REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	13
Documentation	13
Background of Literacy in Young African American Males	14
Multicultural Literacy	15
Culturally Responsive Teaching	17
Instructional Practices	19
Teacher Percentions and Practices.	24

Low Socioeconomic Status	
Summary	
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY29	
Aim of the Study29	
Sampling Design	
Setting and Population	
Research Design	
Data Collection Process	
Interviews	
Researcher Reflexive Journal	
Data Collection	
Trustworthiness	
Researcher Bias	
Confirmation Bias35	
Ethical Considerations	
Data Analysis	
Coding Procedures	
Thematic Analysis	
Summary37	
CHAPTER IV: DATA ANALYSIS39	
Introduction39	
Background Information	
Intervious Protocol	

Emergent Theme 1: Lack of planning time
Emergent Theme 2: Lack of instructional resources
Emergent Theme 3: Culturally Responsive Training needed
Emergent Theme 4: Lack of Student motivation55
Summary
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION60
Introduction60
Summary of the Study60
Discussion of Findings61
Research Question 1
Research Question 264
Research Question 3
Threats to internal validity68
Implications for Educators69
Recommendations for further research70
Conclusion71
Summary
REFERENCES
APPENDIX A
APPENDIX B
APPENDIX C89
APPENDIX D90
APPENDIX E92

T 7 T																												^	-
V/ I	 Δ																										,	ч	-

CHAPTER I

Introduction

Background to the Proposal

As background to the proposal, I conducted phenomenological research using semi-structured interviews and asked fellow teachers' questions about multicultural literacy for a doctoral class assignment in spring 2018. The research question for that study was: What are teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage African American males in grades 5-8?

Only the interview portion of the study was completed for the class assignment. Questions were constructed to elicit answers about teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy, implementation of multicultural literacy practices, reading in the classroom, and professional development provided on multicultural literacy. The interviews were transcribed and coded. I conducted thematic analysis, analyzed the data, and then submitted the information to the professor. I wanted to continue research on this topic because I still had so many unanswered questions about teacher perceptions of multicultural literacy, the reading achievement and engagement of young African American males.

In this research I explored teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy. I asked questions to current teachers in grades 5-8 about implementation of instructional practices, instructional strategies, and culturally responsive teaching in a culturally diverse classroom. I also investigated further to find specific ways to engage young African American males in grades 5-8.

Historical Background

It has been over sixty years since the historical *Brown v. Board of Education*Supreme Court ruling that ended segregation in public schools. Thurgood Marshall, who was in charge of the NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund and chief attorney for the plaintiffs, projected that in five years schools in the United States would be desegregated. He hoped that black children would receive the necessary education to allow them to enter into the workforce and colleges on an equal foundation (Kluger, 2004). In 1967, President Lyndon B. Johnson appointed Marshall to the Supreme Court where he would spend the next 24 years to continue the fight to stop school segregation.

Today it appears things are getting worse instead of improving with this particular issue. The Brown decision was about more than segregation, it also made evident that African American students were denied a meaningful and fair educational opportunity (Rothstein 2014). According to Rothstein (2014), the schools African American children attend today all over the U.S. are mostly segregated because the neighborhoods are segregated. Rothstein (2014) states that education policy is controlled by the housing policy, and it is not possible to desegregate our schools without first desegregating both the prosperous and low-income neighborhoods.

According to the 2014 U.S. Census Bureau, the makeup of the U.S. K-12 public school student population has changed dramatically over the last 50 years. Students today are more diverse across many categories, including linguistics, culture, geography, and socioeconomics. With diversity comes different learning styles and a variety of instructional practices that will work best for individual students. As minority populations continue to increase across the United States, teachers must receive opportunities for

professional development on how to instruct students from different cultural, linguistic, and economic backgrounds if they are going to be successful in today's schools (Banks & McGee Banks, 1997; Deady, 2017). By 2042, people of color are expected to be the majority of the population in the United States. Predictions also suggest that by 2040, more than half of the K-12 population in the United States will be linguistically and culturally diverse students who speak a first language (L1) other than English (Macrine, 2010). Therefore, teachers must work with diverse students in order to understand diversity and the different styles of learning, so they will be able to engage their students in the learning process.

Even though the induction of the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act of 2001 has allowed for more accountability by warranting that school districts are monitoring the progress and performance of underrepresented groups of children, isolated intervention time, strategies aimed to close the literacy gaps for young African American boys is still proving to be insufficient (Patom, 2007). Perhaps more research must be requested to discover the factors and causes for the gap in literacy achievement as well as how to help these young men receive an equal educational opportunity.

Statement of the Problem

Scholars have well documented the reading achievement gap of young African American males (NCES, 2006; NCES, 2010). Scholars (e.g., Anderson, Howard, & Graham, 2007; Below, Skinner, Fearrington, & Sorrell, 2010; Chatterji, 2006; Haddix, 2009; Emdin 2016; Tatum, 2008, 2018) identify multiple explanations on why African American males demonstrate lower reading achievement than other student populations. Although extensive research has revealed below level reading scores for this group, the

gap continues to be present, with minimal gains. In 1994, according to the National Center for Education Statistics, fourth-grade reading scores for African American boys fell behind those of all other groups in the same grade level. Across the country, only 12 % of African American fourth-grade boys are proficient in reading, compared to 38% of Caucasian boys (Gabriel, 2010). Therefore, with the increasing demands of literacy skills in today's world, I believe it would be beneficial for researchers to further explore the teacher's role and what factors attribute to such low reading achievement for these young men.

Hinckley (1995) stated that even after many years of integration in schools, teachers still receive little support in understanding their diverse students whose culture and learning styles are different than their own. Research reveals that a teacher's lack of cultural awareness can lead to a decrease in the achievement of minority students (Morrier, Irving, Dandy, Dmitriyev, & Ukeje, 2007). According to The National Center for Culturally Responsive Educational Systems (NCCRESt), becoming culturally responsive means one can learn from someone with the same culture or even a different culture. NCCRESt also states there are six characteristics to a culturally responsive pedagogy; 1) students have the same opportunities to reach their full potential; 2) student preparation for competent participation in an increasingly intercultural society; 3) teacher preparation for facilitation of all student's learning; 4) schools take part in ending oppression of all types; 5) education is student-centered and inclusive of their voice and experiences; 6) educators, activists, and others take an active role in reevaluating all educational practices and how they affect students' learning. Educators must take the

lead on knowing their students. We are involved with both the victims and the oppressors.

According to Erickson (1987), culturally responsive pedagogy is a way to instill trust in the classroom that builds bridges between teachers, students, and the community. In addition, other scholars continue to ask for culturally relevant pedagogy as a way to support communication within classrooms and limit cultural conflict (Delpit, 2004; Gay, 2000; Gay 2010; Hale, 2001; Irvine, 2002; Lee, 1995; Zygmunt & Clark, 2015).

What multicultural literacy curriculum is present in today's classrooms? Are these young men engaged and motivated to read the literature taught by their teachers? Tatum (2006) was evident in the fact that if African American males do not have access to relevant and authentic texts, some may withdraw from reading entirely. In keeping with this evidence, it is possible during early childhood or elementary reading activities, young African American males are disengaged because they are not being exposed to culturally relevant texts. Logan & Johnston, (2009) take it a step further by stating there is a direct link between reading engagement and reading achievement and textual selection can be deemed as a possible factor behind reading underachievement in African American boys. For instance, Smith's (1995) case study shows that African American students prefer to read culturally relevant texts which increases their interests in reading.

Multicultural literature can help students develop an awareness of their environment by exploring current cultural and societal issues. When students have the opportunity to experience the feelings and emotions of others through literature, they are encouraged to gain insight about the world we live in (Monobe & Son, 2014). Concepts in multicultural literacy allow students to build confidence and understanding of their

environment, which can lead to an improvement in student learning (Agosto, 2007). This study centers on teacher's knowledge of multicultural literacy and their attitudes and beliefs of multicultural literacy in order to improve literacy rates in fifth through eighth grade African American males.

Theoretical Framework

Three theoretical frameworks, social cultural theory, critical literacy theory and critical race theory, informed this investigation of teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage African American males in grades 5-8. Sociocultural theory emphasizes the factors of social, cultural, and historical responsibilities in the human experience (Tracey & Morrow, 2012). Vygotsky (1978) stated that sociocultural theory describes learning as a social process and can stem from intelligence in culture or society. Davidson (2010) suggested, "children's literacy development is understood by exploring the cultural, social, and historical contexts in which the children have grown. One is obliged to consider how the thinking of a particular group of individuals has directed the children's thinking, how the children understand who they are in relation to others, and how they interpret the world" (p. 249).

Bronfenbrenner (1979) points out that concentric levels of influence can affect the development of a child. In his early writings, he suggests there are four spheres of influence: the microsystem (immediate influence which can be found at a child's home or classroom); the mesosystem (layer of interactions that transpires between two microsystems such as a child's home life affecting their school environment); the exosystem (does not allow a student to interact within this system); and the macrosystem (explains similarities and consistencies between two systems such as families from a

cultural group showing similar interaction patterns) (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). There has also been a comprehensive conceptual rationale stated by Bronfenbrenner & Morris (2006) regarding the central social contexts in a child's life interact and have an importance in key outcomes of their lives, such as social and emotional adjustment and school performance and engagement. Bronfenbrenner defends that human development takes place through interactions between an active and evolving human organism and the people in the environment.

Au (1997) states school literacy learning is a social process that is affected by what is going on in the present, as well as what happened in the past. When children learn to read, or struggle to learn to read, they do so in their environment whether it is social, cultural, or historical. Au (1997) believes when a child thrives or struggles in reading it can be connected to their environment.

Critical literacy theory originated when social critical theorists were concerned with social injustice and inequities and described the impact of such inadequate power relationships amongst groups in society (O'Byrne, 2018). One might question situations and feel the need to be reflective in order to better understand the power, inequality, and injustice in human relationships (De Oliveira Andreotti, 2014). Morris (2011) states that critical literacy theory considers the political characteristics of literacy education such as the opportunities that exist to empower young individuals to overcome their oppressions socially as well as the fact that schooling supports discriminations in society. This theory questions the belief that education is a process which is unbiased and is intended to promote development for all children. Teachers who plan for the development of critical literacy encourage students to discuss shared issues and institutions like family, poverty,

education, equity, and equality in order to critique the barriers that serve as standards as well as to demonstrate how these standards are not experienced by all society members. Evans (2010) conducted research on critical literacy using a variety of multicultural picture books to explore student perceptions on diversity. Evans determined that exposure to multicultural literature increased the students' awareness of social and cultural practices as well as the beliefs of other cultures.

Bloome & Talkwalker (1997) suggested there is power and purpose in students' learning and "the teaching of reading is viewed as a social process that can either foster or inhibit the empowerment of the students" (p. 109). Bloome and Talwalker (1997) added that critical literacy theory explores "how reading and writing instruction might help students acquire a critical perspective on how written language is used to promote a particular cultural ideology and how it may inhibit the growth and maintenance of minority languages and cultures" (p. 109). This will allow educators and students an opportunity to read, reflect, and analyze texts through the innovative process by constructing or deconstructing these texts.

Critical race theory emerged in the mid-1970s with Derrick Bell Jr., Alan Freeman, Charles Lawrence, Lani Guinier, Richard Delgado, Mai Matsuda, Patricia Williams, and Kimberle Crenshaw hoping to spread the word about topics pertaining to education, sociology, ethnic studies and women's studies (Delgado, 1995; Taylor, 1998; Hiraldo, 2010). This theory is a movement to also address topics associated with race, power, and racism. According to Yosso and Solorzano (2007), critical race theory initially formed to focus on civil rights legislation regarding African Americans versus Caucasians. Scholars involved in this movement sought to determine and analyze the

battle of White Supremacy and its oppression of the People of Color (McCoy & Rodricks, 2015). However, other racial groups in society allowed for an extension of this theory such as women, Latin Americans, Native Americans, and Asian Americans.

The use of voice is a way that critical race theory scholars share the experience and realities of the difficulties in culture. This theory departs from mainstream by often utilizing storytelling to analyze the myths, challenges, and insights that make up the common culture about race and that continually portray blacks and other minorities (Delgado, 1995).

Critical race theory is known for gravitating towards educational reform movements, such as multiculturalism, as well as civil rights most treasured legal victories (Ladson-Billings 2010). This theory claims that racial reform has moved at a gradual pace in the United States (Ladson-Billings 2010). Ladson & Billings (2010) also noted that critical race theory concentrates on how race and citizenship intermingle.

According to Tate & Ladson-Billings (2010) there are six boundaries within critical race theory: 1) racial inequity in education is the logical outcome in an achievement system based on competition; 2) examines the role of educational policy and practices in terms of racial inequity and the normative whiteness; 3) rejects the tale about the people of color being inferior to the white people; 4) evaluates the linkage between contemporary inequity in education based on racial oppression in historical patterns; 5) realizes that race interacts with other identity markers such as (gender, class, linguistic, etc.); 6) advocates for purposeful outcomes associated with racial inequity.

Ledesma & Calderon (2014) believe that in K-12 education there are several patterns identified with critical race theory such as: a) curriculum and pedagogy; b)

teaching and learning; c) schooling; and d) policy/finance and community engagement. In an ideal society, every student would have the same access and opportunities to similar curriculum, instruction, funding, and facilities (Ladson-Billings, 1998). In order to make changes regarding our educational system, educators are urged to evaluate the pedagogy, curriculum, teaching and learning, and curriculum through the lens of critical race theory. Also, Ledesma & Calderon (2015) believe that educators need to examine their attitudes they carry into the classroom.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to explore a literacy instructional framework for improving reading outcomes in African American boys in fifth through eighth grade. Emphasis was placed on factors such as the teacher's knowledge on multicultural literacy, as well as teacher practices and beliefs on culturally relevant teaching, and authentic literacy experiences to better meet the literacy needs of young African American males.

This study perhaps provides insight and useful information for the research community, teachers, and curriculum writers for school districts. By using the information obtained from this exploration into teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy, teachers will be able to better design curriculum, and develop lessons to work effectively with racially and ethnically diverse students. It will also allow for teachers to have a better understanding of the many cultures and how their perceptions can affect teaching and learning behaviors.

The Research Questions

The following research questions guided the study:

- What are teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage African American males in grades 5-8?
- 2) What culturally responsive instructional practices do teachers implement to support African American males in grades 5-8?
- 3) How do teachers incorporate authentic literacy experiences to engage African American males in grades 5-8?

Limitations

This study has limitations. This research was conducted in one school district; therefore, the research findings are limited to a specific area where the teachers are located. Another limitation is that I, the researcher, used to be a classroom teacher for nine years in this school district. I am still employed in this district as a secondary instructional coach. The last possible limitation is that I am also the interviewer and my presence might have an influence on some of the teachers' responses. Therefore, I asked open-ended interview questions for teachers to have as much opportunity to include information and reflect on the questions. The teachers might give answers that they think I would want to hear for this study.

Organization of the Study

This research study is presented in five chapters. Chapter I includes the background of the study, statement of the problem, purpose of the study, significance of the study, definition of terms, theoretical framework, research questions, limitations, delimitations, and the assumptions of the study. In Chapter II, I present a literature

review, which includes a discussion of multicultural literacy, culturally responsive teaching, and low socioeconomic status, instructional practices that could improve the level of academic achievement for young African American males, and teachers' perceptions and practices in the classroom that could allow for more engagement from young African American males. Chapter III includes the methodology chosen for this research study. It includes the selection of participants, instrumentation, data collection, and data analysis procedures. Chapter IV explains the data analysis process while Chapter V discusses the findings of the research study.

CHAPTER II

Brief Review of the Literature

This dissertation examined teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage young African American males in grades 5-8. This study was implemented in one public school district in the Southeast Texas area. The researcher interviewed Language Arts Teachers who teach in grades 5-8. This chapter presents literature on the current status of multicultural literacy, teachers' attitudes and instructional practices, culturally responsive teaching, and the current gap in research. The interconnectedness of these topics reveals the significance of teachers' implementation of multicultural literacy in a Language Arts classroom in grades 5-8.

This review of relevant literature establishes grounds for changing the national pattern toward improving educational decisions. These decisions within school attempt to improve multicultural literacy in classrooms to meet the needs of diverse students, especially the young African American males. Review of influential works has been included throughout this literature review to establish the historical groundwork and impact of integrated multicultural literacy. Additionally, the theoretical framework presents the study's impact to current research that further links best instructional practices for integrating multicultural literacy into literature programs that help diverse students.

Documentation

The strategy used for searching for related research literature consisted of examining resources on multicultural literacy and culturally responsive practices as they

relate to supporting the need for engagement of young African American males. An ongoing appraisal and collection of peer-reviewed journals and professional books using the databases ERIC and EBSCO molded the following documentation of the current research topic. While using the databases, I used the following Boolean phrases: engagement, young African American males, literacy, middle school, language arts, multicultural literacy, and culturally responsive teaching. Targeted emphasis on research of the reading achievement gap of young African American males and the effects of integrating culturally relevant literature as a means to provide culturally responsive pedagogy established the research groundwork.

Background of Literacy in Young African American Males

The 2017 National Assessment of Education Progress found the average reading score for white fourth-grade students was 26 points higher than their African American peers. The achievement gap between the two races (Caucasian and African American) is overwhelming. It is not the entire African American children population who appear to be performing lower than other groups in basic reading; it is the young males. Scholars have documented the reading achievement gap between young African American males and other student groups (NCES, 2006; NCES, 2010). Scholars (e.g., Anderson, Howard, & Graham, 2007; Below, Skinner, Fearrington, & Sorrell, 2010; Chatterji, 2006; Haddix, 2009; Tatum, 2008, 2018) identify multiple explanations on why African American males demonstrate lower reading achievement than other student populations. Hinckley (1995) stated that even after integration, teachers still receive little training on how to teach their diverse learners. According to Erickson (1987), culturally responsive pedagogy is a way to foster a system of trust in the classroom that builds relationships

between teachers, students, and the community. In addition, other scholars continue to call for culturally relevant pedagogy as a way to foster communication within classrooms and limit cultural tension (Delpit, 2004; Gay, 2000; Gay 2010; Hale, 2001; Irvine, 2002; Lee, 1995; Zygmunt & Clark, 2015). Tatum (2006) was evident in the fact that if African American males do not have access to relevant and authentic texts, some may withdraw from reading entirely. In keeping with this evidence, it is possible during early childhood or elementary reading activities, young African American males are disengaged because they are not being exposed to culturally relevant texts. Logan & Johnston (2009) takes it a step further by stating there is a direct link between reading engagement and reading achievement and textual selection can be deemed as a possible factor behind reading underachievement in African American boys. It is essential that teachers have knowledge in multicultural literature and realize the importance in engaging diverse students, especially young African American males.

Multicultural Literacy

Multicultural literacy allows for knowledge and understanding of interests, experiences, struggles, and influences in society of the many different cultures through literacy. Cai (2002) and Taxel (1992), the NCTE Policy Brief (2007) asserts that "multicultural literacy is seeing, thinking, reading, writing, listening, and discussing in ways that critically confront and bridge social, cultural, and personal differences" (p. 5). Multicultural literacy goes beyond reading about different cultures in literature, but actually engaging the readers and intensifying what is presented in the literature that can connect readers to society. It also allows students to develop multiple perceptions about

their cultures as well as insight and understanding of other cultures (Hefflin & Barksdale-Ladd, 2011).

Education for multicultural literacy should help students accomplish the skills, attitudes, and commitments needed to become citizens who will work for social justice in their society. A literacy education that focuses on social justice educates both the heart and mind of students while allowing them to become thoughtful, committed, and active citizens in their nation and the world (Banks, 2002). Literacy in the 21st century should include a focus on global issues as well as an action plan in hopes to solve them.

The schools should help students receive multicultural literacy, which will allow them to develop a balance of cultural, national, and global connections and a commitment to act to change the world and make it a better place. If educators teach students to be literate without helping them to develop a commitment to construct a humane world, we will foster a society in which there is a "threat to justice everywhere" (Banks, 2003). Preferably, students will master basic literacy skills and become multiculturally literate so that they encourage a society of multiculturalism (Banks, 2004; Jay, 2003). Jimenez (2003) suggests that building relationships with students is a key part to a student's academic achievement, highlighting how multicultural literacy could potentially lead to changing society; empowering students by allowing to see themselves as learners. Taylor & Hoechsmann (2011) conducted a research study in Canada where they surveyed 942 secondary students, 10 school boards, and 5 provinces on the issue of multicultural literacy. They found school curriculum was essential to gaining knowledge to combat social and cultural issues.

Culturally Responsive Teaching

Gay (2010) describes culturally responsive teaching as "using the cultural knowledge, prior experiences, frames of reference, and performance styles of ethnically diverse students to make learning encounters more relevant to and effective for them" (p. 31). According to Ladson-Billings (2014) the secret behind culturally relevant pedagogy is "the ability to link principles of learning with deep understanding of (and appreciate for) culture" (p. 74). Culturally responsive teaching is a term that allows teachers to be responsive to the diversity in the classroom. Its main goal is to "get teachers to connect with students' cultures, and to help students connect with their cultural and social identities in ways that learning in any subject is more effective and relevant" (Delpit, 1995; Gay, 2002; Ladson-Billings, 1994, 2001, 2009, 2014). Such teaching requires that students be seen as "members of extended cultural circles that exist beyond the classroom" (Ladson-Billings, 1994). Hammond (2014) feels that culturally responsive teaching is about building the learning capacity of each student and the best way to decide if your teaching is culturally responsive is whether or not your students are learning.

Ladson-Billings (1994, 2014) also notes that culturally relevant teaching must consist of teachers learning about their students' cultural backgrounds and becoming cognizant of this knowledge when lesson planning. Culturally relevant teachers' model and exercise appropriate actions that hold value for the cultures of their students, teachers find a way to incorporate meaningful learning of students' cultures into the curriculum and allow students to critically investigate issues in society. When teachers value and use their students' personal backgrounds and experiences to drive instructional decisions,

teachers then discover any biased perceptions of their students, revealing a potentially concealed racism in their instructional practices (Brown-Jeffy & Cooper, 2011).

There is power in culturally responsive teaching in the areas of improving academic achievement, allowing for student voice, fostering student engagement, and improving student motivation (Gay, 2010; Hill, 2012). There is an extreme disconnect between what goes on in these young men's lives versus the content taught in the classroom. Culture shapes how children understand life as well as how and what they learn (Kuykendall, 1989). The teacher must then bridge the gap by facilitating learning opportunities.

According to Frey (2018) and the 2018 U.S. Census Bureau, the white population will become a minority in the year 2045. Asians and Hispanics rates will grow respectively, and the projected growth rate for African Americans is 34 percent. Since the number of culturally diverse students is steadily increasing, a need to modify curriculum based on the diverse learners in the classroom is imperative. However, giving teachers the time and permission to customize the instructional content to connect the lessons and to engage their students with life experiences involves educators first making the connections and building relationships with their students (Railton, 2015). Student motivation increases when careful cultural considerations are taken by the teacher when selecting texts, also allowing families to interact with healthy, purposeful reading habits that establish one's unique cultural point of view.

Gay (2010) insists that schools recognize their student population because if not the intellectual abilities of diverse students could go unnoticed. Therefore, culturally responsive teaching is a way to exhibit the potential for higher learning amongst the diverse students by cultivating their academic and psychosocial abilities (Gay 2010).

Instructional Practices

Quality teaching and quality texts are essential in academic success. To enhance the academic success of young African American males, educators need a clear concept of the many areas of literacy instruction, a compassionate interest in contributing to the personal development of young African-American males, and the knowledge of a wide range of texts that can help prepare African-American males to become successful citizens at local, national, and international levels (Tatum 2009). Using culturally relevant instruction and materials might help these young boys in so many areas of life. Some possible ways that culturally relevant teaching can help a young black male is allowing them to find a connection in classroom learning to their real-life activities, connecting students with mentors from the African American community, and also introducing African American male students to potential career paths (Tatum 2003). In a Language Arts classroom, there are many ways to incorporate these ideas such as with oral tradition. A teacher could incorporate storytelling, spoken word, poetry, reader's theater, and song into literacy instruction (Hale, 2001). Using literature circles and book clubs to allow students to respond orally to texts and have conversations with one another about authentic text (Daniels, 2002). Utilizing writing instruction as a way to help students learn standardized English (Delpit, 1998). It is important to understand the lived experiences of African American male youth, and how they respond to experiences (Tatum, 2006, 2009, 2018). Using texts that are stimulating and interesting to African

American youth (Hale, 2001; Tatum 2009, 2018) will engage them and will likely make connections to their own personal lives.

Incorporate current events into literacy instruction (Tatum, 2006) and also informational texts (Duke, 2000) to engage young African American males. Researchers have said to include movement and expressive individualism into literacy instruction such as "alternate quiet with active activities, include hands-on activities, projects, diminish the use of worksheets and skill-and-drill, and present information in a rhythmic way". In class, include and emphasize cooperation over competition (Tatum, 2006, 2009), utilize small groups (Hale 2001), utilize peer mentors and coaches, (Boykin & Noguera, 2011) and develop a nurturing relationship between yourself and each student as well as between each student and his peers (Hale, 2001). Tatum (2018) suggests five practices that favor African American males in helping them succeed in literacy instruction:

- Adopt a model of literacy instruction that allows African American males to read
 and write across multiple genres of literature, one fiction and one non-fiction,
 during each one-hour lesson. This should take place for struggling and nonstruggling readers.
- Avoid timelines for reading and writing achievement that are based on theory.
 Reading scores do not define students. Instead, assist and interact with the struggling reader to guide them.
- 3. Make sure young African American males are having meaningful, purposeful experiences with texts to build confidence in literacy development. Allow a text to become part of a student, long after he reads it.

- 4. Do not allow others to compromise the literacy development of these young boys, constantly keep asking yourself "what is missing with the proposed literacy approach or model?"
- 5. Avoid a slow growth model and refrain from celebrations after students meet minimum standards.

It is important for teachers to find ways to help African American male youth see the advantages and necessary tools that literacy has for their lives, their futures, and their communities (Tatum, 2006, 2009, 2018). It is key to incorporate reading and writing into all aspects of the student's day (Hale, 2001). The power of text presented in class can engage and motivate these young students by enabling texts that encourage and empower young men to take action in their own lives and the lives of others. Examples of enabling texts are texts that allow students to reflect on real world issues, focus on a collective struggle of African Americans that honor and nurture multiple identities (Tatum, 2009). A text that holds power that a young African American male might relate to is the speech by Martin Luther King Jr., "I Have A Dream" where he talks about racism and hopes for equality for all. Today's emphasis on standards, rigor, and assessments can seem distant from the historical roles of literacy development for African American young men. Most federal, state, district, and school efforts lack a focus on helping these young males strengthen their sense of belonging and embracing reading as a cultural practice in meaningful, purposeful contexts, often ignoring their need to develop intellectually (Tatum, 2009).

Tatum (2006, 2018) believes that African American adolescent males currently have "limited exposure to a quality literacy instruction in school". Tatum (2006) believes

there should be a meaningful literacy design that should include texts that show a positive life and provide a roadmap that will help students resist negative behaviors in and out of school. Tatum (2006) states that must-read texts have four traits: they are intellectually interesting to students and teachers, they serve as a roadmap and provide apprenticeship, cognitively speaking, they challenge the students, and they help apply strategies and skills of literacy on their own. Therefore, the power of text is crucial to reach these young African American males who need the exposure to texts "which not only contain characters who look, act, and think as they do, but texts which encourage and empower these young men to take action in their own lives and in the lives of others around them" (Tatum, 2009; Emdin, 2016).

Husband (2012) highlights three factors that contribute to the low reading achievement of these young African American males: curriculum, classroom, and school. As far as curriculum, Husband has found that the texts provided in the classrooms are not socially and culturally appropriate for these young males. Therefore, what they are reading in class does not reflect any lived experiences or realities to their own lives. Text selection is crucial in order for these young men to achieve in reading. According to Boone, Rawson, & Vance (2010) introducing struggling African American male readers to texts written by African Americans is not sufficient. Do not simply "dumb down the texts," but encourage and motivate the students through scaffolding. Scaffolding is merely the process in which the teacher will model a problem and then gradually step back, but still offer support when needed. Also, students should collaborate with one another, especially through difficult texts, to discuss the meaning and relevance of a text (Boone et al. 2010).

Noting a curriculum factor, researchers (Gay, 2000; Kuykendall, 1992; Shade, Kelly & Oberg, 1997; Tatum, 2018) determined that African American males' benefit from active, high stimulating activities rather than just sitting in their desk listening to the teacher lecture. Webb-Johnson (2002) believes African American males respond better in classrooms that allow for movement, interaction, and energy. Some teachers are not teaching reading as a means to understand the world around them, and do not build on those connections from the text (Tatum, 2006).

When it comes to school factors, African American males lose a lot of educational time because they are out of the classroom for suspension at disproportionate rates (Brown, 2005; Kunjufu, 1982). This time spent out of the classroom has a major effect on academic achievement, especially in reading achievement (Mendez & Knoff, 2002). Perhaps there is such a negative stereotype when it comes to the reading achievement of young African American males, that causes teachers to lower their expectations for these students causing them to fall behind in reading achievement (Irving & Hudley, 2005; Kunjufu, 1989; Noguera, 2003).

Kirkland & Jackson (2009) completed an ethnographic study to examine the critical literacy practices of the young men of My Brother's Keeper program. They found that with their participants (group of 11-14-year-olds) they showed coolness through their texts. The texts they produced were symbolic and offered a story of who these young men aspired to be in life. The findings describe how gender, pop culture, and race is a way to disclose dialogue as well as style to show their coolness and black manhood.

Teacher Perceptions and Practices

According to Goings, Smith, Harris, Wilson, Lancaster (2015) the most significant factors in student engagement and ultimately their achievement are teacher perceptions and practices. It is crucial for educators to believe that every African American male has the potential to be great in society. Educators must be willing to have conversations with these young men and build connections with them (Goings et al. 2015). Building relationships and making connections with all students is an essential piece in the process of teaching and learning.

Teachers and staff who work alongside African American males in the classroom may lack the appropriate skills to work with them effectively, leaving them misguided and facing mental, social, and emotional challenges (Anthony, Krissonia, & Herrington, 2007; Sen, 2006). Currently, teachers of different cultural and racial backgrounds are educating young African American males (Douglas, Lewis, Douglas, Scott, & Garrison-Wade, 2008). Strayhorn (2008) discovered in his research that teachers have lower expectations for the academic success of young African American males. Even the assets available in our current education system—enhanced teacher effectiveness, advanced pedagogical practices for teaching African American males, and highly qualified educators—do not seem to keep a large number of African American males in school through graduation. Teacher effectiveness can without a doubt influence student performance (Bell, 2009, 2010, Goe, Bell, & Little, 2008). Effective teachers are educated in ways to implement different learning styles of diverse students by implementing instructional strategies to allow all students a fair learning opportunity

(Alliance for Excellent Education, 2008; Bell, & Little, 2008). Teacher effectiveness indicates the ability of teachers to promote student growth (Goe et al. 2008).

Explaining the definition of teacher effectiveness is important. Five characteristics effective teachers share are: (a) high expectations for all students; (b) contributions to positive academic and social outcomes; (c) use of diverse resources; (d) contributions to the academic development in classrooms; and (e) collaboration with others (Goe et al., 2008). An effective teacher "engages all students in the learning process with the aim of positively influencing student growth and academic performance" (Bell, 2009, 2010; Goe et al.2008; Rothon, Arephin, Klineberg, Cattell, & Stansfeld, 2010). Therefore, teacher effectiveness assumes an educator can teach all children without discriminating based on culture or bias (Bell, 2010). Most education advocates agree that an effective teacher accounts for student learning (Goe et al. 2008). According to Emdin (2016) the teachers must acknowledge the baggage that students may carry to school and realize how this can affect student achievement.

Ladson-Billings (1994) conducted an ethnographic study of the beliefs and practices of eight teachers whom principals, colleagues, and parents rated as highly effective teachers of African American children. The teachers gave students numerous opportunities to learn cooperatively, made few assumptions about students' prior knowledge, and worked to develop critical thinking skills. They also viewed teaching as an art, believed that all students can succeed, they felt part of the community, and viewed teaching as a way to give back to the community. The teachers believed that knowledge is reciprocal and shared between students and teachers. The importance of recognizing students' race, culture, and ethnicity was at the center of the teachers' pedagogy. Ladson-

Billings referred to those common beliefs as culturally relevant because the teachers could "see color and could see culture" (p. 30; see also Gay, 2000).

Low Socioeconomic Status

According to the National Center for Children in Poverty (NCCP) in 2018, 43% of children live in low-income families in the United States. These statistics cannot adequately represent poverty's negative impact on parental involvement. The socioeconomic status of children and their families has a deep impact on a child's education, even in a country that encourages equal educational opportunity and fair and just treatment for all citizens (Lynch, 2018). Funding to low-income Title I schools has decreased since 2010, and some states have recently reduced funding for Pre-K education (Lynch, 2018). According to Lynch (2018), children living in poverty encounter limited experiences in this world such as the money to afford extracurricular activities or field trips that expand their knowledge.

The Race and Economic Opportunity in the United States: An Intergenerational Report: (Pirani, 2018) states the following: a) African American males growing up in wealthy families were more likely than their white peers to live in poverty as adults; b) Twenty-one percent of African American males raised at the very bottom were incarcerated; c) African American men raised in the top 1 percent were as likely to be incarcerated as white men raised in households earning about \$36,000 a year; d) The worst places for poor white children are most likely better than the best places for poor black children; and e) African Americans made up about 35 percent of all children raised in the bottom 1 percent.

The 2002 Educational Longitudinal Study followed a group of students from the time they were high school sophomores through the remainder of their high school careers, and into their postsecondary education. They examined the reading and mathematics standardized test scores of students in the 10th grade during the 2001-02 school year. Data in the form of surveys were collected from students, parents, teachers, librarians, and school administrators to gather information about students' school experiences and activities. The study revealed the primary predictor of test scores was the socioeconomic status of the family (Rowley & Wright, 2011).

These young males must also deal with negative stereotypes in and out of school, and a lack of positive role models in the community. Therefore, most of the students are living in high-risk neighborhoods and experience problems related with low socioeconomic status. Goings et al. (2015) believes there are more African American male role models needed. Our culture seems open to change, especially with a former Black president, who promotes the value of reading and education. President Obama wrote to Parade Magazine about the role of fathers and stated, "I came to understand the importance of fatherhood through its absence - both in my life and in the lives of others," (p.1; Jacobs, 2009). President Obama stated when a man leaves or abandons his responsibility as a father no government can fill his position, so we must do everything possible to provide a safe, learning environment for our youth (Jacobs, 2009). These mentorship opportunities can allow these young men to gain positive relationships with people of good character in their pursuit of education and lifelong success. Goings et al. (2015) states that it takes a village to raise a child and community members can assist in helping these young men.

Summary

Educators and policymakers might question how policy, teaching practices, and research will benefit and advance the literacy development of students no matter if they are rich or poor. Literacy development needs to reach all students, including African American male adolescents. Gay (2013) and Protacio (2012) note the relationship between student achievement and one's self-identified culture.

Perhaps teachers might foster culturally responsive teaching and practice explicit and implicit literary choices to allow for all students an opportunity for engagement (Farnia & Geva, 2013). There is a strong connection between students' attitudes toward reading and the ways in which they engage in reading activities in and out of school. Students with positive attitudes toward reading will engage in reading more often and with less resistance than students who have negative attitudes toward reading (McKenna, Kear & Ellsworth, 1995; Sainsbury & Schagen, 2004). A lack of research exists in that teachers are unable to identify with students, and therefore are not taking into account who is in their classroom. Hence, selecting literature that is not purposeful which offers little engagement to the students. To date, little has been documented related to reading underachievement in African American boys in early childhood and early elementary contexts specifically.

CHAPTER III

Methodology

Aim of the Study

The aim of this phenomenological study was to focus on teachers' perceptions on multicultural literacy, as well as teacher practices and beliefs on culturally relevant teaching to better meet the literacy needs of adolescent African American males in grades 5-8. The intent of this study was to establish how Language Arts teachers could better assist in raising the achievement gap in reading of young African American males. This chapter presents the methodological framework that was used in this study.

As stated previously in Chapter 1, the goal of this qualitative research study was to understand a phenomenon: public school Language Arts teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a way to engage African American males in grades 5-8. For this study, an interpretive phenomenological research design was implemented. Research questions were framed broadly and openly, and the goal of this research will not be to test a predetermined hypothesis (Smith & Osborn, 2007). The following research questions guided this study:

- What are teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage African American males in grades 5-8?
- 2) What culturally responsive instructional practices do teachers implement to support African American males in grades 5-8?
- 3) How do teachers incorporate authentic literacy experiences to engage African American males in grades 5-8?

Sampling Design

This study utilized a qualitative method, specifically a phenomenological research study. Purposeful sampling was used for this study. Patton (2002) believes that purposeful sampling is most effective in cases that are information rich. Therefore, selective individuals were recruited to participate in this study.

Careful attention was considered for the selection of the participants in this research study. To provide richness in perspective and hold true meaning to the context of the study, the participants were sought because of their varied experience level in public school teaching in general as well as their specific competency teaching ELA in grades 5-8.

Setting and population

The study took place in a public-school district in the Southeast Texas area. The school district has four elementary schools, one intermediate school, one middle school, and one high school. In the community it is predominantly white (68%), low socioeconomic status with a median household income of \$32,715 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017).

These public-school teachers have at least five to fifteen years of teaching experience and are current Language Arts teacher in grades 5-8. I invited potential participants to take part in a survey and questionnaire by attending their grade level planning period.

Research Design

I used interpretive phenomenological research as the qualitative design for this study. Smith & Osborn (2007) stated that the focus of interpretive phenomenological

research is "to explore in detail how participants are making sense of their personal and social world" (p. 53). Therefore, this research design of interpretive phenomenological research is most appropriate for exploring public school teachers' understandings and perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage African American males in grades 5-8.

Data Collection Process

Interpretive phenomenological research studies typically will use small sample sizes and will require a flexible data collection instrument (Smith & Osborn, 2007). According to Smith and Osborn (2007), there are a number of ways to collect adequate data for interpretive phenomenological research, such as semi-structured interviews, surveys, and personal experiences. The participants filled out a survey and questionnaire on multicultural literacy and engagement of young African American males. After this, I analyzed the surveys and questionnaires to discover which participants met the criteria based on teaching experience. Then, I used semi-structured interviews as a tool to collect data because it allowed me the opportunity to converse with the participants face to face. While communicating with the participants, I was able to modify the initial questions based on the participants' responses. It allowed me, as the researcher, to probe further questions when interesting and important areas originated (Smith & Osborn, 2007). I also kept a reflexive journal to explore my own thoughts about teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy (Janesick, 2004).

Interviews

Creswell (2009) stated that interviews are an exchange between a researcher and participant(s) where the researcher can ask general and open-ended questions which will

then lead to the transcription of the data for analysis. This connection built between the researcher and his or her participants will help the interviewer play a dynamic part in the research process. This will allow those involved in the research process to experience self-revelations or true confessions about the participant(s) life experiences (Roulston, 2010).

The interviews were semi-structured in that there was a set of questions, but the interviews were guided based on the responses of the participants (Smith & Osborn, 2007). A researcher who is able to conduct semi-structured interviews will (a) attempt to establish rapport with the participants, (b) consider grouping the questions in a particular order based on importance, c) be freer to ask on the spot questions based on responses to other questions asked and (d) follow the participant's lead concerning their interests or concerns (Smith and Osborn, 2007). Therefore, Smith and Osborn (2007) suggested that participants might feel more comfortable interviewing in a familiar setting. So, I allowed my participants to select a location that best fit their needs. The interview with each participant was an opportunity to build rapport and trust and also a chance for me to grasp a deeper understanding of their knowledge and perceptions on multicultural literacy. Before the interview though, the selected participants filled out a survey (Appendix A), and answered a questionnaire (Appendix B), which allowed me to probe questions based on their initial responses. I conducted, recorded, and transcribed all the interviews myself. Interviews were recorded on my cell phone and then directly loaded onto my personal laptop where I transcribed them onto a word document. Audio and transcription files were stored in an encrypted and password protected file on my personal laptop which is kept in my home office.

Researcher reflexive journal

Reflective journal writing informed me of pertinent information and ideas through the data analysis process. I was able to see the value of this reflective writing process as it helped guide me in understanding ideas or concepts pertaining to this study. I was able to fully grasp personal experiences, knowledges of others, as well as different ways of looking at the world. Janesick (2004) stated the importance of the researcher reflexive journal is about understanding the self and the researcher as a research instrument. The reflexive journal was also used as a data set to accompany other techniques, and also another opportunity for triangulation of data (Janesick, 2004). My goal was to write in my reflexive journal during each step of the research process.

Data Collection

Prior to data collection, I obtained approval for the study from Sam Houston State University's Institutional Review Board as well as the consent from the school district that participated in this study. I provided confidentiality and privacy to my participants by storing data securely within encrypted programs as well as using self-selected pseudonyms for the participants. I recruited the participants during their content planning time. Once I gathered the information from the survey and questionnaire, and discovered who met the criteria, I asked for consent from the participants. Then, interviews were scheduled.

Following Creswell's (2009) steps of data analysis, I organized the data into file folders on my personal laptop. Then, I transcribed the interviews. During the process of transcribing the interviews, I repetitively listened to the recorded interviews and read the transcriptions many times. This allowed me to plunge myself into the data, get an idea of

the interviews as a whole, and think about shared patterns. Next, I made note of certain dialogue from the transcriptions. After that, I recorded a list of key patterns that arose from the transcriptions. To take it a step further, I connected the patterns to each of the research questions. These discoveries were then used to answer each of the research questions. Finally, all discoveries were compared in order to check uniformity across a variety of sources.

Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness was established when research findings closely mirrored the meanings as described by the participants (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). It was my hope as the researcher that those involved in the study would not only find it trustworthy, but also meaningful in context. The triangulation of the data, in addition to the member checking, supported the process of establishing trustworthiness in this study. I, the researcher, conducted member checks to check for understanding of this phenomenon by utilizing techniques such as paraphrasing or summarization for clarification.

Researcher bias

I, as the researcher, served as the primary instrument for data collection and analysis (Merriam, 2002). Due to this, there might be a chance that my preconceived ideas could impact or influence either mine or the participants' actions during data collection and the stages of analysis, therefore influencing the study's result (Onwuegbuzie, 2003). To separate from this bias, I conducted member checks with my participants (Lincoln & Guba, 1985) to make sure I did not influence my beliefs onto the participants.

Confirmation bias

To exclude confirmation bias, the process in which a researcher might analyze and interpret new data with predetermined beliefs about the research topic, (Greenwald et al., 1986; Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007) I spent time reflecting in my journal. This process reduced confirmation bias (Janesick, 2004; Moustakas, 1994).

Ethical Considerations

It is imperative that I mention my own experiences as a previous middle school and high school Language Arts teacher. In conducting an interpretive phenomenological study, I was sensitive to the biases that I brought to my research study. Smith and Osborn (2007) noted that interpretive phenomenological research involves "detailed examination of the participant's life-world," (p. 53).

At the beginning of this study, I had just left the classroom after 9 years as a public-school Language Arts teacher in grades ranging from fifth grade to High School English I-IV. As a child I loved to read and excelled in academics and always knew I wanted to help others to be successful. As a classroom teacher, I started to question the literature I was teaching and how I was teaching it. So, after a few years, I stepped out of my comfort zone and started teaching literature that was relatable to all children. In public school classrooms diversity exists, and I found that most students did not like to read, therefore connections were not taking place while reading. I wanted to encourage reading but had to find ways to make it interesting to the students, so they could foster a love for reading. I noticed early on that young African American males performed lower in Reading compared to the other races. I became interested in this phenomenon and

wanted to look at all aspects to find a way to support these students and help them receive the most effective literacy instruction. I wanted to explore what is currently going on in the classrooms regarding literacy instruction while also learning about the perceptions of teachers on this issue.

Onwuegbuzie and Leech (2007) suggested the researcher leave behind an audit trail during their research study. I, the researcher, left an audit trail documenting every step of the research process, including reflective journal entries, interviews, member checks, and data analysis. As stated earlier in this chapter, due to the respect of confidentiality, the participants have alias names.

Data Analysis

Interpretive phenomenological research is when participants are making sense of their own world and the researcher is making sense of their world. Smith, Flowers, and Larking (2009) encouraged for investigative process to be smooth, connected, and multi-directional. This type of analysis involves intense reading and re-reading, initial noting of relationships, processes, places, values, events, developing themes, and searching for connections. Smith and Osborn (2007) explained that there is not a required methodology for carrying out an interpretive phenomenological research study. The research findings in interpretive phenomenological studies are not discussed in seclusion, but rather discussed in comparison to the current literature. To understand multicultural literacy and the teachers' perceptions and understandings of this type of literacy, I chose thematic analysis to explore the patterns and classify the themes and their relationships.

Coding procedures

Using Saldana's (2009) coding handbook for qualitative data as well as Smith and Osborn's (2007) suggestions for interpretive phenomenological research analysis, I began coding transcriptions by reading and rereading each transcript and documenting what was meaningful and interesting. I then started grouping and arranging these documentations together. I used QDA Miner lite 1.2 (Provalis Research, 2013) for organizing and analyzing the data. Data was then entered, and I coded the 1) participant interviews and questionnaires, 2) debriefing notes from interviews, 3) researcher reflexivity journals. As previously mentioned, thematic analysis was the data analysis method used.

Thematic analysis

Thematic analysis is a qualitative research method that can be used for many research questions and epistemologies. It is a method that allows the researcher to identify, analyze, organize, describe, and report themes found within the data analysis process (Braun & Clarke, 2006). A detailed and comprehensive thematic analysis can produce trustworthy and insightful findings (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Braun & Clarke (2006) and King (2004) stated that thematic analysis is a useful method for exploring the perceptions of different research participants.

Summary

This chapter described the methodology that was used for this study such as the sampling framework, the research design, and the data collection process via an interpretive phenomenological study to explore the teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy. I outlined the course of study including data collection, specifically semi-

structured interviews, debriefing interviews, and reflexive journaling. I concluded by describing the data analysis method used which was thematic analysis.

Chapter IV

Data Analysis

Introduction

The previous chapter presented the research design and methodology procedures. In this chapter, the findings from the qualitative data analysis are presented. This phenomenological research study was designed to explore the perceptions of six Language Arts teachers' grades five through eight in order to grasp how multicultural literacy was implemented in the classroom as a means to engage young African American males in grades 5-8. Participants disclosed information about their experience in the classroom pertaining to multicultural literacy and engagement of African American males and were given a chance to have a voice. In Chapter IV, I detailed the procedures I followed during the process of data collection and analysis of the findings that emerged from six secondary teachers' semi-structured interviews.

The initial contact was made when I introduced myself to the grade 5-8 Language Arts teachers at each of their planning period (professional learning community). Teachers were encouraged to fill out the demographic survey and the questionnaire that rated their perception of their own effectiveness of implementing multicultural literacy in their classroom as well as the engagement of African American males. For those interested in participating in the study, I disseminated a Sam Houston State University Instructional Review Board (IRB) approved recruitment document detailing the research study. I gave the Participation Invitation Letter (Appendix C) and Letter of Consent (Appendix D) to all of the Language Arts teachers attending the planning time on that specific day. I instructed the Language Arts teachers that I would leave the locked

collection box in the PLC room on each campus for one week. I exited the room after the instructions were given. After a week had passed, I collected the collection box from each campus and started examining the survey and questionnaires inside the box.

The survey (Appendix A) asked five questions regarding the teacher's demographic information as well as information about their teaching experience. It asked for the gender and race of the teacher and the number of years teaching overall and in this particular district. The survey ended with a question for the teacher to specify which subject areas he/she has taught.

I received responses from 19 participants for the survey and questionnaire. Of the 19 participants, 3 were male, and 16 were female. Regarding race, 14 participants identified themselves as White, Non-Hispanic, 3 identified themselves as Black, Non-Hispanic, 1 reported to be Hispanic, and 1 reported to be Bi-racial/Multi-Racial. Regarding teaching experience, 11 out of the 19 participants had 5 or more years of teaching experience. All 19 participants are currently teaching Reading/Language Arts.

On the back of the survey, was the questionnaire (Appendix B). The questionnaire was set up as a Likert scale. The teachers had to rate themselves in four areas: knowledge of multicultural literacy, meeting the literacy needs of all of their students, implementation of multicultural literacy in their classroom, and ensuring engagement of African American male students in their classroom. Of the 19 participants, only 4 strongly felt they were knowledgeable on multicultural literacy, 12 participants agreed that they had knowledge about multicultural literacy, while 3 were undecided. As far as meeting the literacy needs of all the diverse students in the classroom, only 4 participants

strongly agreed with that statement, while 7 participants agreed with that statement, 3 participants disagreed, and 5 participants were undecided.

When it comes to implementing multicultural literacy in the classroom, 2 participants strongly agreed that they are currently implemental multicultural literacy in their classroom regarding instructional practices, instructional strategies, and the appropriate literature being taught. Furthermore, 14 participants agreed they are implementing multicultural literacy in their classroom, while 3 participants felt undecided. For the last statement regarding engagement of all students in the classroom, 5 participants strongly agreed, while 13 participants ensured engagement for all students and 1 participant was undecided. The results from the questionnaire are listed in Table 1.

Table 1

Language Arts Teachers Grades 5-8 (N=19)

Statement	Strongly Agree	Agree	Undecided	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
I am knowledgeable on multicultural literacy.	21%	63%	16%		
I meet the literacy needs of all my students in regard to the different cultures of students.	21%	37%	26%	16%	
I implement multicultural literacy in my classroom. (instructional practices, instructional strategies, literature taught, etc.)	10%	74%	16%		
I ensure engagement for all students, especially the young African American males in my classroom.	26%	69%	5%		

The criteria for this research study was a minimum of five to fifteen years teaching experience and he or she had to be a current Language Arts teacher in grades 5-8 in this Southeast Texas school district. Six participants consented to proceed further with the study and participated in semi-structured interviews. These participants were Language Arts teachers (5 females and 1 male) of students in grades 5-8. Pseudonyms were used in place of the participants' real names to maintain confidentiality and to protect their identities (See Appendix E).

Background information

Of the six participants in this study, four reported to be Caucasian (75%). One participant reported they were of Hispanic ethnicity (17%). The remaining participant reported to be African American (17%). For comparison, the state of Texas demographic representation was as follows (TEA PEIMS, 2019): Female educators made up 76.22% of teacher population compared to the male educators which only made up 23.78% of the teacher population. Out of the entire teacher population, 59.08% were Caucasian, 27.13% were Hispanic, 10.36% were African American, 1.59% were Asian, 0.36% were Pacific Islander, and 0.35% were Native American/Alaskan Indian.

Two participants obtained their teacher certification through a university undergraduate program. Four participants obtained their teaching certificates through an Alternative Teacher Certification program. For comparison, in 2018 in the state of Texas more teachers of all races and ethnicities obtained alternative certificates than university undergraduate certificates (TEA PEIMS, 2019). Three of the six participants reported to have continued past their undergraduate degree, with two holding a master's degree. Two

of the participants were brand new to the district this school year, while four of the participants had previously taught in this school district.

This Southeast Texas public school district is a Title I district. According to the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), Title I means it is a district that receives a federally funded assistance program for economically and educationally disadvantaged students. Murphy & Daniel noted on the Texas Tribune (2019), there are approximately 9,000 students in the school district. The students consist of 38% Caucasian, 34% Hispanic, 22% African American, 3% Two or more races, 1% Asian, 0.5% American Indian, and 0.1% Pacific Islander. The average teacher to student ratio is 22 to 1.77% of the teachers are Caucasian, 11% are Hispanic, and 9% are African American. 57% of the students are considered economically disadvantaged. 52% of the students are considered to be at risk while 11% of the students speak limited English.

Interview Protocol

The four-question interview protocol was conducted through semi-structured interviews with six Language Arts teachers. Four of the participants were interviewed face-to face, while two of the participants were interviewed over the phone. During the semi-structured interviews, the following open-ended questions were asked:

- Tell me your thoughts on multicultural literacy.
- How do you implement multicultural literacy in your classroom?
- How do you meet the literacy needs of all of your students in regard to the different cultures of students?
- How do you engage students of different cultural backgrounds when teaching reading?

The six participants knew the open-ended interviews were being audiotaped with my cell phone. I also informed the participants that all recordings will be kept confidential in an encrypted file on my personal laptop with a secure password in my home office. I was able to listen to the recordings of the interviews and transcribe the interviews. I used Creswell (2013) six step process for data analysis protocol to receive attainable results in this phenomenological study. The six step process includes a) Step 1-prepare and organize data for data analysis, b) Step 2-examine all the data, c) Step 3-code the data, d) Step 4- after coding, use this process to determine the themes to analyze, e) Step 5-representation of the themes, and f) Step 6-interpret the findings. In analyzing and interpreting my qualitative data, I used this six- step process in examining the themes based on participants' transcriptions from the semi-structured interviews (Creswell 2013, Saldana 2012). This data source was designed to explore the following three research questions:

- 1) What are teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage African American males in grades 5-8?
- 2) What culturally responsive instructional practices do teachers implement to support African American males in grades 5-8?
- 3) How do teachers incorporate authentic literacy experiences to engage African American males in grades 5-8?

After analyzing the data using In Vivo coding, the following four themes emerged from this research study: (a) lack of planning time, (b) lack of instructional resources, (c) culturally responsive training needed for teachers, and (d) lack of motivation by the students. Emergent themes are repetitive throughout the data process (Saldana, 2012).

While coding I was able to outline four overarching themes for my study. Table 2 provides a visual of the emergent themes, and their definitions, and significant participant statements.

Table 2

Description of Emergent Themes

Theme	Description	Participants' statements
Lack of Time	time to plan with colleagues	"I do not have time to find text for all my diverse students."
		"I have to find literature outside my working hours."
		"I need to take time out of my schedule and pull literature for the coming months."
		"I spend so much time outside of school working."
		"Time is a factor. We have to make sure we would have time to add the literature to our curriculum when planning."
Lack of Instructional Resources	materials used to provide literacy instruction to students	"I think our district just hasn't provided the necessary resources."
		"I wish the curriculum had more texts integrated into it. It is mid-year and we just got to a story about a

Hispanic/Latin American family."

"I think it would be nice to see more books that are purchased that are specific to our diverse group of students."

"Our curriculum only highlights certain demographics in the literature presented."

"I have to seek out the material myself."

"I do think we need to bring more African American literature, so that a lot of our students can connect with the text."

Teacher training on Culturally Responsive Teaching needed training for teachers who teach a diverse group of students

"I find it hard to connect with my students."

"I was not trained to work with diverse students in the school districts or in my undergraduate program."

"No, I haven't been trained. I think school districts need to. We, as teachers, need to be more aware and more open to a multicultural environment in our classroom."

Lack of Student motivation

a love for reading is missing

"No, they do not enjoy reading."

"No, not necessarily. I think they would have become interested in reading if they were pushed at a younger age."

"If a text is put in front of them about a topic they are not interested in, forget it. They will clock out."

"These students are not the types of students that enjoy reading. I think it's because they haven't had the opportunity to read texts that they enjoy or texts they would like to read."

"I have to encourage my students and motivate them in order for them to read in my class."

"I can't teach a kid to read if they don't want to read."

Emergent Theme 1: Lack of planning time

This public-school district implements professional learning communities where content area teachers are able to meet between 140-160 minutes as a team per week. Dufour and Eaker (2009) believe that educators can seek to create more effective schools by transforming them into professional learning communities. The characteristics of professional learning communities are a) shared mission, vision, and values, b) collective inquiry, c) collaborative teams, d) action orientation and experimentation, e) continuous improvement, and f) results orientation (Dufour & Eaker, 2009). So, having time set aside for teachers to plan collaboratively makes up part of this model.

The teachers, during their professional learning block, are able to collaborate with their instructional coach and peers to plan lessons that include whole group instruction, small group instruction, intervention and extension activities. The standardized test and the data ultimately drive the literacy instruction. Teachers responded with feeling pressured to obtain passing results for their students. Their classrooms are extremely diverse with not only special education students, 504 students (whose disabilities or impairments are covered under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act according to Texas Education Agency), students with social and emotional difficulties, but also students of different races, cultures, and gender. Cindy, a participant, stated:

"When we pull texts to teach our standards it comes from our newly adopted curriculum that our district spent a lot of money on. We don't necessarily have time to find and pull texts from other resources because we have so many other issues going on. We follow our scope and sequence and our curriculum provided by the district. Now, I'm not saying that our district wouldn't allow us to find other texts appropriate for all students, but when planning we are also having to consider so many other things such as our students' learning abilities and also their learning disabilities.

Their planning time also consists of district professional development during these 140-160 minutes per week. Teachers mentioned that during this time they have been educated on instructing dyslexia students, special education students, and bilingual students. The teachers also have a 10-day learning cycle that they follow and are allotted about 60 minutes a week to plan lessons. The remaining time is spent disaggregating data on common formative assessments and summative assessments. Common formative

assessments are short assessments inside a unit to assess where the students currently are, and summative assessments are longer assessments at the end of each unit. By disaggregating data with their team, the teachers are able to find the strengths of the students according to the standards assessed and also target concerns where the students are struggling based on assessed standards. So, planning time has different pieces that must be addressed with team members. Another participant, Amy, noted:

"Yes, time is a factor. With a newly adopted curriculum we are not familiar to the texts that are included in each of the units. We have not had a chance to pre-read a lot of them until a few days before the lesson, so have we done a great job on making sure our literature meets the needs of all of our students: probably not. A lot of us teachers spend time after the school day at home grading papers, contacting parents, and spending time with our loved ones."

Josie, a participant, also added:

"When it comes to pulling literature that we teach to our students it is based off the standard we are going to teach to our students. Of course, we would love to pull texts that meet the needs of all of our diverse students, but time is our enemy. I do realize that a lot of my students do live in a bubble and hardly leave our small little town, so I am cognizant about the literature I teach to my students."

The teachers have mentioned that time is not on their side when it comes to selecting multicultural literature for their diverse classrooms. Most said that they are doing the best they can with the planning time allotted for them. They admitted that their students need to experience multicultural literature in their classroom and moving forward they will be more cognizant.

Carrie, a participant, hesitantly stated:

"To seek out literature and instructional materials for the students I am serving, it is going to cost me my time and my money."

Emergent Theme 2: Lack of Instructional Resources

Quality teaching and quality texts are essential in any child's academic success.

Tatum (2009) believes that educators should have a clear perception on all aspects of literacy instruction including the importance of text selection for young African

American males to better prepare them for society. As previously stated, teachers do not feel that they have a lot of time to choose multicultural texts that most or all of their students can relate to. When asked about instructional resources during the semi-structured interviews, I received similar responses.

Mary, a participant, stated:

"I think with our newly adopted curriculum, we have added a lot of additional multicultural literacy pieces because we now have English Language Learners texts included. I think we are missing African American culture texts in our curriculum. That is over half of the make-up of our classroom. They need to be able to read stories about themselves and find those real-world connections within the text."

Whitney Oakley, a former Assistant Superintendent, stated that high-quality grade-level instruction is the pathway to equity in closing racial gaps (2018). She also added that we owe it to all stakeholders to make sure the instructional resources are present.

Carrie, a participant, responded aggravatedly:

"All of the instructional resources that I have received from the district do not meet the literacy needs of my students. My students are at least three grade levels behind. I do not have the appropriate materials that match my students' instructional level. The resources are on grade level, and most of my students cannot read on the fifth-grade level. This worries me. So, I spend a lot of my time and my own money finding texts and activities that will allow them to progress this school year. I do not want them to regress, so I am constantly assessing my students and monitoring their progress."

I asked Josie, a participant, about the process of pulling literature to teach in her class and this is what she stated:

"As a collaborative team, we usually look at the standard and the genre of the unit study. Then we look at the texts within our curriculum and explore which text would appeal best to our students. We like to teach texts so that the students are able to view the outside world."

Gary, a participant, noted:

"In regard to curriculum I make it work. Sometimes that may mean I have to pull resources to tell the students more about the author or the historical event taking place during that time period to allow the students to have background knowledge on the topic of the text."

Most of the participants agreed that they are lacking the appropriate instructional resources that meet the needs of their students in the classroom. Some participants are having to fund these resources with their own money and/or expand on the resources that have been given to them to make them more relatable to their students.

Amy, a participant, added:

"Well, I wish the curriculum had more texts integrated into it. We just now (midyear) got to a story that included a Hispanic/Latin American family. It was neat to see the students engaged. I wish there were more texts about African Americans as well."

Emergent Theme 3: Culturally Responsive training needed

Culturally responsive teaching is a term that allows teachers to be sensitive and responsive to the cultures of their students. Its main goal is to "get teachers to connect with students' cultures, and to help students connect with their cultural and social identities in ways that learning in any subject is more effective and relevant" (Delpit, 1995; Gay, 2002; Ladson-Billings, 1994, 2001, 2009, 2014, Emdin 2012). Hammond (2014) believes that culturally responsive teaching is about building the learning capacity of each individual student and the easiest way to judge if your teaching is culturally responsive is whether your students are learning. Of the six participants, only two said that they had been trained on culturally responsive teaching. Both teachers mentioned that they received this training in their pre-service teaching program. They did not receive any training from a school district on this topic.

Cindy, a participant, quickly stated:

"I don't feel that with this group of students that I've been able to hone in on their needs because of the social divide. I am an older white woman and many of them are coming from a single parent home. I find it hard to connect with them. I have found that if I mention an artist, like Lizzo, my students are surprised that I know

this pop culture artist and get excited and engaged. I have a socially/economically diverse group of students as well. It's really hard."

Emdin (2016) believes that there should be a renewed focus on teacher preparation and all teachers, no matter if they are black or white, should learn strategies and practices in order to become a culturally responsive teacher. Emdin feels strongly that these teacher preparation programs need to take a closer look at how teachers are being trained to teach young minority men and realize that no student can successfully learn in an environment where they are not cared for (2016).

Mary, a participant, responded:

"Even though I am a Latino woman, I would like to have training on reaching all students of different cultural backgrounds. I feel that I am properly trained in supporting our English Language Learner students, but the majority of my students are African American, so finding ways to help them learn or get them engaged would be great. I do try to connect with my students individually and find out where they come from because I feel like they have more struggles to deal with in their home or community."

There is a thrilling disconnect between what goes on in these young men's lives versus the actual content being taught in the classroom. Culture shapes how children understand life as well as how and what they learn (Kuykendall, 1989).

Gary, a participant, stated:

"As a black male teacher, most of my African American male students see me as stern and strict. I find myself wanting more from them and not allowing any excuses. The world is tough enough, and they have to be given high expectations from an early age. When I teach literature, I am teaching history too."

However, giving teachers the necessary time and permission to tailor the instructional content to connect the lessons and to engage their students with life experiences involves educators to make the connections first and build relationships with their students (Railton, 2015). Carrie, a participant, is proud of the relationships she has built with her students, no matter their ethnicity, race, gender, and/or culture. She stated:

"I focus first on building relationships with my students. My goal is to make those connections with my students in the first fifteen days of school. This school year it took me about forty-five days, but I didn't care because I knew this was crucial in order for us to have a successful school year. After they knew I cared for them they worked well for me. I am able to build relationships with my students. I am extremely nurturing and caring. They know they can come to me with not only help on an assignment, but with any issues life brings their way. I have one student who is homeless and always comes to school hungry. Sometimes he comes to school angry. I know why he is angry; he is hungry and has had little sleep from the previous night. I communicate with him in a manner to show him I care and will help him. He works for me in my class and respects me. We have truly built a great bond with one another."

Noddings (2005) stated that "We must understand that a school, like a family, is a multipurpose institution" (p. 63) and that our schools cannot accomplish academic goals without making sure we attend to the needs of our students by showing that we care about

them. Noddings (2005) goes even further to state that caring teachers listen and respond differently to their students.

Gonzalez (2018) believes that students and educators can learn from one another because we all bring varied experiences and how we utilize them in instruction is up to the educators. Gonzalez feels it is crucial to build relationships with students and ask them questions about their experiences, their family, and history (2018).

Josie, a participant, compassionately stated:

"In my class, I hope my students are able to make connections with the literature over a favorite character or experience in the text. I try my best to find different texts for students of different cultural backgrounds to relate to. I believe reading a variety of texts allows my students to see the outside world and not just the town we live in."

Gonzalez (2018) warns educators that culturally responsive teaching is not just about one day celebrating one's culture, but daily practices that bring students' cultures into instruction.

Emergent Theme 4: Lack of student motivation

Effective teachers find ways to implement different learning styles for their diverse students by implementing instructional strategies to offer all African American males a fair academic experience (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2008; Bell, & Little, 2008). Amy, a participant, responded about the engagement of her students in reading by stating:

"Most of my students are engaged in class and I try to choose literature that will fit all of our students and there are times when it might not fit every single student. But they will get a chance to see/read a text that they can relate to. Using a variety of texts allows the students to see the outside world and not just the town we live in. I have found that I have to introduce the text in an exciting and engaging way for them to get interested in the text. Most of my students do not enjoy reading. I think it is because they haven't found a text or series that they enjoy. Even showing video clips about the text drives their imagination and they want to learn more."

Therefore, the power of text is important in reaching these young African American males and they need the exposure to texts "which not only contain characters who look, act, and think as they do, but texts which encourage and empower these young men to take action in their own lives and in the lives of others around them" (Tatum 2009; Emdin 2016). Cindy, a participant, feels:

"Only a handful of my students like to read. These are the students that are reading at a higher level than the other students. I feel that the other students could find themselves engaged in a text if it was something of interest to them. If not, forget it, they will clock out."

Researchers (Gay, 2000; Kuykendall, 1992; Shade, Kelly & Oberg, 1997; Tatum, 2018) determined that African American males' benefit from active, high stimulating activities rather than just sitting in their desk listening to the teacher lecture. Webb-Johnson (2002) has found that African American males respond better in classrooms with hands on activities that require movement, interaction, and energy.

Also, students should collaborate with one another, especially through difficult texts, to discuss the meaning and relevance of a text (Boone et al. 2010). According to

McGee & Richgels (1996), teacher read alouds are a great way to promote a deeper understanding of the text for children. Mary, a participant, feels strongly that read-alouds and cooperative learning has helped to engage the students in the text, by stating:

"I do not necessarily think my students like to read. I think if they were pushed at a younger age, things would be different. I incorporate a lot of read-alouds in class to engage my students. I try to add drama and suspense or comedy to my introduction of the text to get them interested in a text. I also like to have discussions about the text whole group to allow the students to dig deeper about what they read. I also find that this helps the struggling readers as well to comprehend what is going on in the text."

Using literature circles and book clubs that allow students to respond orally to texts and have conversations with one another about an authentic text are great ways to engage the students in responding and understanding the text. (Daniels, 2002). Cindy, a participant, also touches on this same topic and mentions:

"I try and find 15-20 minutes of class time a few times a week to incorporate small group literature circles. This allows for the students to read together, support each other, and be able to talk about the text. I am even looking forward to hosting book clubs during the school day, so that anyone can attend."

Emdin (2012) believes that schools must be willing to access the world through different approaches of teaching and learning that are unique to black males in order to address the low achievement of black males. Emdin also added that students have to want to be academically successful (2012).

Gary, a participant, responded:

"I have to encourage and motivate my students to read. I have to present the information in a variety of ways. The students love TikTok, and Flipgrid. They will answer questions about a text using these programs and always appear engaged and interested in the assignment."

Engagement and motivation go hand in hand. Both are crucial in order for students to become better readers. Guthrie and Wigfield (2000) suggest that providing students a choice will increase their effort and commitment to reading. Carrie, a participant, in this study likes to offer a wide variety of literature to her students in her classroom library. She feels that just one book can impact a child's life forever. Carrie, a participant, added:

"I teach Reading in a Title I district. Most of my students do not have a book at home. That is one of the biggest struggles I have found. So, at the beginning of the school year I stocked my bookshelves. I allowed my students to take my books home. Yes, I have to keep it filled throughout the year. But, it puts a book in the hand of a child who didn't have one. I can't teach a student to read if they don't want to read. So, finding a book that interests them starts that fire."

Summary

In Chapter IV, I described the findings of this phenomenological study. This study was conducted to understand secondary Language Arts teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy and the means of engagement of African American males in grades 5-8. I applied Creswell's (2013) six-step qualitative process for maximum results and I used In Vivo coding to focus on fulfilling the participants' point of view (Saldana, 2012), I was able to identify and interpret several themes provided from the participants

thorough responses in their individual interviews. Four total themes emerged from this analysis: (a) planning time, (b) instructional resources, (c) culturally responsive training, and (d) lack of student motivation. These emergent themes were crucial to understanding these secondary Language Arts teachers' experiences and perceptions.

Chapter V

Discussion

Introduction

The presentation of this phenomenological study and the analysis of the data collected were reported in the previous chapters. Chapter V contains a summary of the purpose and findings of the study. The major findings, which have been explained will give further insight of multicultural literacy and engagement of African American males in a grade 5-8 public school classroom based on the teachers' perceptions. This chapter also contains implications for practice and recommendations for future research.

Summary of the Study

The purpose of this study was to explore a literacy instructional framework for improving reading outcomes in African American males in fifth through eighth grade specifically. Emphasis was placed on factors such as the teacher's knowledge on multicultural literacy, as well as teacher practices and beliefs on culturally relevant teaching, and authentic literacy experiences to better meet the literacy needs of young African American males.

This study provides insightful and useful information for the research community, teachers, and curriculum writers for school districts. By using this information obtained from this exploration into teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy, teachers will be able to better design curriculum and develop lessons to work successfully with racially and ethnically diverse students. It will also allow for teachers to have a better understanding of the many cultures and how their perceptions can affect teaching and learning behaviors.

Six Language Arts teachers teaching grades 5-8 at the same public-school district in Southeast Texas were interviewed using open-ended questions that focused on the following three research questions:

- 1) What are teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage African American males in grades 5-8?
- 2) What culturally responsive instructional practices do teachers implement to support African American males in grades 5-8?
- 3) How do teachers incorporate authentic literacy experiences to engage African American males in grades 5-8?

Discussion of Findings

Four major themes emerged from the data collected from the semi-structured interviews with the six participants which were: 1) lack of time, 2) lack of instructional resources, 3) culturally responsive training needed, 4) lack of student motivation. The participants shared the factors affecting multicultural literacy and engagement of African American males in their classrooms.

Furthermore, it is imperative to continue listening and learning about what is currently taking place around our world. We, as educators, can make a difference. Every child deserves a fair and equal opportunity to an education no matter the color of their skin. I feel it is imperative that multicultural literacy should be in the hands of all children, especially young African American males. Banks (2002) believes that through multicultural literature educators can focus on social justice and educating both the heart and mind of our students while also showing them how to be thoughtful and committed citizens.

Tatum (2006) noted how important the role of text plays in the literacy development of young African American males. Tatum (2006) goes on further to add that it would be beneficial when selecting a text that a teacher chooses a piece of literature that shines a positive light on the trajectories of African American males. Hammond (2014) believes that culturally responsive teaching is an effective framework for student engagement. Therefore, selecting texts that students can connect with and learn from will most likely allow them to be engaged and motivated to read the literature. Teachers have many tasks at hand but setting aside time before the school year starts to hand select the literature that will be taught to incoming students might alleviate some of the stress.

Additionally, Logan & Johnston (2009) revealed there is a direct link between reading engagement and reading achievement. We, as educators, can come to a conclusion that if our young African American males are low performing in Reading, then there's a chance they are not engaged or connected to the literature being taught in their classroom.

This study shines light on the issue that young African American males are consistently low performing students in Reading. This study provides insight and further recommendations on how we can move forward and face this issue in today's classrooms.

Research Question I

What culturally responsive instructional practices do teachers implement to support African American males?

One of the emergent themes for this study emerged from this research question which was the need for culturally responsive training. Only two participants received preparation on culturally responsive teaching, so most of the participants did not have a

fluid answer for this question. Most of the participants did not know how to incorporate these instructional practices because they had not been trained.

All participants acknowledged that their classrooms were filled with diverse students. Only two participants revealed that they have great rapport with their students and spend time building relationships and getting to know their students. This is a crucial culturally responsive practice to incorporate in each lesson.

One participant, Carrie, added that when it comes to building relationships with her students, she starts from the first day of school. She believes that the relationship aspect between a teacher and student is imperative, especially in high poverty areas. She feels that if students like you then they will be engaged and listen to you. Another participant, Mary, noted that she tries to connect with her students individually and find out where they come from because she feels like these students have a lot going on at home or in their community.

There is an extreme disconnect between what goes on in these young men's lives versus the content taught in the classroom. Culture shapes how children understand life as well as how and what they learn (Kuykendall, 1989). It was evident in my study that teachers had to bridge the gap and facilitate the learning opportunities, while also keeping in mind how important it was for the students to make connections to the text based on their own lived experiences.

Some possible ways that culturally relevant teaching can help a young black male is allowing them to find a connection in classroom learning to their real-life activities, connecting students with mentors from the African American community, and also introducing African American male students to potential career paths (Tatum 2003). All

participants agreed that they do realize the importance of bringing in diverse literature into their Language Arts classroom. The participants, grades 5-8 Language Arts teachers, did mention that their district had just recently adopted a new curriculum and felt obligated to use the resources provided by their school district. Most of the participants felt that the new curriculum did not provide enough literature for making real world connections for the African American students. They agreed that these students do not see themselves portrayed in the literature.

Research Question 2

What are the teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage African American males?

An emergent theme arose from this research question given the fact that the participants struggle with engaging young African American males in grades 5-8. The participants noted that there is a lack of student motivation which is an emergent theme in this study. One participant, Cindy, honestly stated that she "doesn't feel that with this group of students that she's been able to hone in on her students' needs as an older white woman". She went on to add that "I find it hard to connect with them, unless I mention a current artist in pop culture".

Another participant, Josie, explained that most of her students are engaged in her lessons because she takes her time with a text by modeling and analyzing the text with her students. She also adds that she tries to bring in literature that is relatable to all of her students, especially the young African American males. Boone, Rawson, & Vance (2010) believes that scaffolding can help these young men, but educators should not simply "dumb down the texts," but encourage and motivate the students through scaffolding.

All six participants noted that most of their students do not like to read and in order to get their students to read, they need to be encouraged and motivated by their teacher. Josie, a participant, added that "these students are not the types of students that enjoy reading and I think it's because they haven't had the opportunity to read texts that they enjoy or texts they would like to read." She goes on further to say that she encourages her students to read by showing video clips to introduce a text to drive their imagination and motivate the students to read the text.

Mary, a participant, stated that she includes a lot of teacher read alouds in her class to engage her students, especially the young African American males in her classroom. She also added that she encourages collaborative conversations and class discussions about the text including the conflicts, characters, and message presented. Cindy, a participant, feels strongly that if you put a text in front of her students that is not of their liking, her students will clock out. However, all participants recognize the importance of text selection for all students. The participants realized moving forward, they will do a better job in selecting the text to meet the literacy needs of all of their students. Therefore, the power of text is crucial to reach these young African American males and they need the exposure to texts "which not only contain characters who look, act, and think as they do, but texts which encourage and empower these young men to take action in their own lives and in the lives of others around them" (Tatum 2009; Emdin, 2016).

The participants also mentioned that time is a factor in implementing multicultural literacy in the classroom which is another emergent theme in this study. The participants felt pressured to follow the newly adopted curriculum and teach to the

essential standards which students will be tested on at the end of the year's standardized test. The participants mentioned that a lot of their planning time on campus is spent disaggregating data and monitoring students' progress on the essential standards that need to be taught by the spring. The participants wished they had time to pull diverse literature but will focus on this moving forward.

Research Question 3

How do teachers incorporate authentic literacy experiences to engage African American males?

The participants shared that they use a balanced literacy framework in their Language Arts classroom. According to Frey, Lee, Tollefson, Pass, & Massengill (2005), balanced literacy is " ... a philosophical orientation that assumes that reading and writing achievements are developed through instruction and support in multiple environments in which teachers use various approaches that differ by level of teacher support and child control" (p. 272). The balanced literacy framework allows for the students to work independently on their current levels in reading and writing with teacher guidance.

Carrie, a participant, mentioned that choice is a huge factor when it comes to reading for her students. She allows them to select their independent reading novels from her classroom library. She added, "I stock my bookshelves with books I have purchased with my personal money. I allow my students to take the books home. Yes, I have to keep it filled throughout the school year, but it puts a book in the hand of a child who didn't have one." She then proceeds by stating, "So, finding a book that the child is interested in, it starts that fire and ignites them".

Shared reading is a part of the balanced literacy framework. Shared reading is reading a text in a whole group setting. Mary, a participant, mentioned that at times there can be a lack of engagement from all students, especially her African American male students, so she will elect to do a read aloud of the text. She added, "I want my students to be engaged in a text, so at times I might have to share the text with the class in the format of a teacher read aloud. I emphasize the dramatic parts and love seeing their eyes light up when I read. I even try and take it a step further and engage in collaborative discussions as a class to allow the students to make meaning of the text".

Josie, a participant, recognized that for the most part, "I always read the text first to my students, then they will follow with a close reading of the text to form deeper meanings of the text. I have found that it works for my students and engages them in the text." According to McKenzie (2002), the U.S. Department of Education finds the balanced literacy approach to have the highest potential for students to become successful readers.

When asked about student engagement in Amy's classroom, she responded, "My students are engaged in the texts presented in class, especially the young African American males, when I make real-life connections to the text or allow them to share their own experiences or connections based on the text. I find that this allows the students to become more interested in the text and motivated to finish the text when they can relate it to their own life story".

The one major defeat the participants mentioned, regarding the newly adopted curriculum, was the lack of literature for the African American students. All but one participant realized they will have to make changes and incorporate more diverse

literature to meet the needs of all of their students. Furthermore, this is the final emergent theme from this study, lack of instructional resources.

Threats to internal validity

Researcher bias. The bias of the researcher can present a threat to internal validity during data collection and data analysis. Thus, it is imperative that researchers recognize their biases, but remain as objective as possible while interviewing, taking detailed field notes, and making inferences based on that data (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007). So, I used the following to eliminate as many threats as possible: a) member checking in the form of summarizing and paraphrasing for clarification, b) triangulation of data (interviews and notes from reflexive journal) and c) audio and video recordings of the interviews. It was crucial that I not show any bias as I collected, analyzed, and translated the data.

Face validity. The threat of face validity may be regarded as a failure to recruit adequate participants, a failure to carry out too few interviews, or a failure to spend ample time observing participants (Lather, 1986). I only secured six participants for this study. Additionally, I utilized member checking which means I asked the participants to summarize and paraphrase what they had stated in their interviews. Next, after each interview I added debriefing notes into my reflexive journal.

Reactivity. A practical threat to trustworthiness is reactivity which is a threat that is based on participant reaction to the research process itself. In other words, a participant may behave in a different manner because they are involved in the research process (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007). To regulate reactivity, my data collection contained

interviews with each participant. The use of triangulation of data also helped to minimize reactivity through thematic analysis.

Implications for Educators

I did not locate any research where teacher perceptions of multicultural literacy were investigated. Although there has been a lot of research on the underachievement in reading of young African American males (Tatum, 2018; Emdin, 2016; Husband, 2012). I feel it is in the best interest of the students to learn from a culturally responsive educator. I believe that culturally responsive practices should be taught in university programs and/or alternative certification programs. Also, there needs to be a designated time for a follow up training within the school district during the time allotted for professional development.

I feel it also evident that educators could benefit from a professional development on student motivation and reading engagement. Teachers need to learn strategies on how to motivate and engage their students to read the literature and complete the tasks associated with the text.

Additionally, teachers need to understand the importance of utilizing multicultural literature in today's classrooms. Most of our classrooms are filled with diverse students and that is why it is imperative to select multicultural literature to allow for our students to appreciate and value one's culture. Additionally, all Language Arts teachers need to be familiar with multicultural literature available for their students; an online library of resources could be created for the Language Arts teachers in the campus and/or district.

Also, aside from the multicultural literacy resources, educators could benefit from reading scholarly articles and practitioner journals for online learning and resources

through professional educator organizations such as International Literacy Association (ILA) and National Council of Teachers of English (NCTE). Furthermore, stakeholders should keep in mind the pressures that educators endure especially when it comes to standardized testing and meeting reading expectations. Teachers still need to continue best practices in instruction and reading. Educators must fine tune these best practices in teaching reading by joining professional educator organizations and attending professional conferences. Stakeholders and administrators should be involved in the reading process and observe the students in the classroom during their Language Arts block. Allowing the educators time to pre-plan for the upcoming school year and hand select literature might alleviate stress from the educators.

Recommendations for further research

Future researchers could take on a study of teacher perceptions of multicultural literacy and consider the inclusion of student perceptions of multicultural literacy. In fact, studying student perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage young African American males in grades 5-8 could yield some pivotal themes for current multicultural literacy and engagement of young African American male researchers. In addition, interviewing students about the literature presented in their Language Arts class combined with ways to engage the students would be an important component to add to a future study. Furthermore, a focus group of educators and students might be added to the study for triangulation reasons.

Evans (2010) conducted research on critical literacy using multicultural picture books. She explored student perception on diversity and learned that by being exposed to these texts the students were made more aware of the different cultural backgrounds. I

believe that for future research, it would be beneficial to explore student and teacher perceptions of multicultural literacy. I believe it could be eye opening for both age groups.

I would possibly allow for more data sets for further research. Additionally, have the educators keep an inventory of the literature used over a period of time in their classroom as well as the instructional practices used to engage the young African American males. Moreover, include the researcher to observe some of the lessons exhibiting these instructional practices in the classroom and include students in the semi-structured interview protocol.

Reflecting on the interviews with the participants, I wish the following questions would have been discussed with the participants pertaining to this study:

- 1.) How prepared were you to teach your students of different cultural backgrounds?
- 2.) Why do you think teachers are not as well-informed about multicultural literacy?
- 3.) Did you take a children's literature course at your university or through your alternative certification program?

Perhaps, for further research, these questions could assist in gaining insight into teachers' educational backgrounds that prepared them to teach diverse students.

Conclusion

Multiple factors play a role into the teacher decision making of the use of multicultural literature texts in the classroom. Undeniably, teachers have to figure out ways to engage their diverse students, especially the young African American males. Culturally responsive teaching is proven to be an effective framework for student engagement and should be considered when working with diverse students (Hammond

2014). It is without question, that sometimes the state and local expectations of student achievement may affect teacher perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage young African American males. Tatum (2006) insists that the missing piece on effectively educating young African American males is the role of text in literacy development. Moving forward, Language Arts teachers should consider identifying and utilizing texts that shine a positive light on the trajectories of African American males in their classrooms (Tatum 2006).

Summary

In my study, I investigated six Language Arts teachers in grades 5-8 in the same public-school district in regard to multicultural literacy as a means to engage young African American males. I did not find any studies conducted where these experiences from the teachers had been explored. The review of literature includes literature relevant to cultural and educational experiences that have been researched regarding engagement and multicultural literacy in the classroom. A qualitative, phenomenological case study methodology was implemented, with phenomenological themes emerging from the six participants' interviews. To strengthen the validity and trustworthiness of the study, researcher reflexivity, member-checking and debriefing strategies were implemented. A step-by-step qualitative data collection and analysis process was utilized. This study provided implications, recommendations, and suggestions yielded to fellow educators and district and campus administrators.

REFERENCES

- Agosto, D. E. (2007). Building a multicultural school library: issues and challenges. *Teacher Librarian*, 34(3), 27-31.
- Alliance for Excellent Education. (2008). Measuring and improving the effectiveness of high school teachers. Retrieved from http://all4ed.org/reportsfactsheets/measuring-and-improving-the-effectiveness-of-high-school-teachers/
- Anderson, K. A., Howard, K. E., & Graham, A. (2007). Reading achievement, suspensions, and African American males in middle school. *Middle Grades Research Journal*, 2 (2), 43-63. SUNY Press.
- Anthony, T. D., Kritsonia, W. A., & Herrington, D. E. (2007). National cry for help:

 Psychological issues as they relate to education; a realistic approach to
 understanding and coping with the African American males. *The Lamar University Electronic Journal of Student Research*.
- Aspects of Culturally Responsive Pedagogy. (n.d.). Retrieved October 15, 2018, from https://www.nccrest.org/the-key-aspects-of-culturally-responsive-pedagogy.html
- Au, K.H. (1997). A sociocultural model of reading instruction: The Kamehameha

 Elementary Education Program. In S.A. Stahl & D.A. Hayes (Eds.), *Instructional models in reading* (pp 181-202). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Banks, J. A. (2002). *Cultural diversity and education: foundations, curriculum, and teaching*. 4th ed: Allyn and Bacon.
- Banks, J.A.. (2004). *Teaching for Social Justice, Diversity, and Citizenship in a Global World*. The Educational Forum.

- Banks, J. A., ed. 2004. *Diversity and citizenship education: Global perspectives*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Banks, J.A., & McGee Banks, C.A. (Eds.). (1997). *Multicultural Education: Issues and Perspectives*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Bell, E. E. (2009). Impact of self-self-esteem and identification with academics on the academic achievement of African American students. (Doctoral dissertation).
- Bell, E. E. (2010). Understanding African American males.
- Below, J. L., Skinner, C. H., Fearrington, J. Y., & Sorrell, C. A. (2010). Gender differences in early literacy: Analysis of kindergarten through fifth-grade dynamic indicators of basic early literacy skills probes. *School Psychology Review*, 39(2), 240-257.
- Bloom, D., & Talwalker, S. (1997). Book reviews: Critical discourse analysis and the study of reading and writing. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 32(1), 104-112.
- Boone, J., Rawson, C., & Vance, K. (2010). Getting it right: Building a bridge to literacy for adolescent African American males. *School Library Monthly*, 27(2), 34-37.
- Boykin, A. W., & Noguera, P. (2011). Creating the opportunity to learn. Moving from research to practice to close the achievement gap. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature* and design. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (2006). The bioecological model of human

- development. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child*psychology, Vol. 1: Theoretical models of human development (6th ed., pp. 793–828). New York, NY: John Wiley.
- Brown, L. (2005). America's black male: Disadvantaged from birth to death. *University* of Pennsylvania Graduate School of Education (Penn GSE) Perspectives on Urban Education, 3(2), 1–16.
- Brown-Jeffy, S. & Cooper, J. (2011). Toward a Conceptual Framework of Culturally Relevant Pedagogy: An Overview of the Conceptual and Theoretical Literature.

 *Teacher Education Quarterly, 11, 65-84.
- Chatterji, M. (2006). Reading achievement gaps, correlates, and moderators of early reading achievement: Evidence from the early childhood longitudinal study (ecls) kindergarten to first grade sample. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(3), 489-507.
- Cai, M. (2002). Multicultural literature for children and young adults: Reflections on critical issues. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods

 Approaches (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: choosing among five approaches. Los Angeles, CA.: Sage.
- Daniels, H. (2002). *Literature Circles: Voice and Choice in Book Clubs and Reading Groups*. Portland: Stenhouse.
- Davidson, K. (2010). The integration of cognitive and sociocultural theories of literacy development. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, *56*(3), 246-256.

- Deady, K. (2017). 5 Steps to becoming a culturally responsive teacher. Retrieved May 2, 2019 from https://www.teachaway.com/blog/5-steps-becoming-culturally-responsive-teacher.
- De Oliveira Andreotti, V. (2014). Critical Literacy: Theories and Practices in

 Development Education. *Development Education Review*, (19). Retrieved October 1, 2018.
- Delgado, R. (Ed.). (1995). *Critical race theory: The cutting edge*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Delpit, L. (2004). *Other people's children: Cultural conflict in the classroom* (updated edition). New York: New Press.
- Douglas, B., Lewis, C. W., Douglas, A., Scott, M. E., & Garrison-Wade, D. (2008). The impact of white teacher on the academic achievement of black students: An exploratory qualitative analysis. *Education Foundations*, 22(1-2), 47-62.
- DuFour, R., & Eaker, R. E. (2009). *Professional learning communities at work: best practices for enhancing student achievement*. Moorabbin, Vic.: Hawker Brownlow Education.
- Emdin, C. (2012). Yes, Black Males are Different, but Different is Not Deficient. *Phi*Delta Kappan, 93(5), 13–16.
- Emdin, C. (2016). For White Folks Who Teach in the Hood. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Erickson, F. (1987). Transformation and school success: The politics and culture of Educational achievement. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 18, 335-356.
- Evans, S. (2010). The Role of Multicultural Literature Interactive Read-Alouds on

- Student Perspectives Toward Diversity. *Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching*, *3*(1), 88-100.
- Farnia, F. & Geva, E. (2013). Growth and predictors of change in English language learners' reading comprehension. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 36(4):389-421.
- Fowler, F. J. Jr. (2009). Survey research methods (41 h ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Frey, B.B., Lee, S.W., Tollefson, N., Pass, L. & Massengill, D. (2005). Balanced literacy in an urban school district. *Journal of Educational Research*, 98, 5, 272-280.
- Gabriel, T. (2010). Proficiency of Black Students Is Found to Be Far Lower Than Expected. Retrieved December 01, 2018 from http://www.nytimes.com/2010/11/09gap.html?pagewanted=print
- Gay, G. (2000). *Culturally responsive teaching: Theory, research, and practice*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Gay, G. (2010). Culturally responsive teaching: Theory, Research, and Practice (2nd Ed.). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Gay, G. (2013). Teaching to and through cultural diversity. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 43(1), 48-70.
- Goe, L., Bell, C., & Little, O. (2008, June). Approaches to evaluating teacher effectiveness: A research synthesis.
- Goings, R., Smith, A., Harris, D., Wilson, T., Lancaster, D. (2015) Countering the Narrative: A Layered Perspective on Supporting Black Males in Education.

 *Perspectives on Urban Education 12(1), 54-63.
- Gonzalez, V. (2018). Culturally Responsive Teaching in Today's Classrooms. Retrieved

- from https://ncte.org/blog/2018/01/culturally-responsive-teaching-todays-classrooms.
- Greenwald, A. G., Pratkanis, A. R., Leippe, M. R., & Baumgardner, M. H. (1986). Under what conditions do theory obstruct research progress? *Psychological Review*, 93, 216-229.
- Guthrie, J. T., & Wigfield, A. (2000). Engagement and motivation in reading. In M. L. Kamil, P. B. Mosenthal, P. D. Pearson, & R. Barr (Eds.), Reading research handbook (Vol. III, pp. 403–424). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Haddix, M. (2009). Black boys can write: Challenging dominant framings of African American males in literacy research. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 53(4), 341-343.
- Hale, J. (2001). Culturally appropriate pedagogy. In W. H. Watkins, J. L. Lewis, & V. Chou (Eds.), *Race and education: The roles of history and society in educating African-American students* (pp. 173-188). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Hammond, Z. (2014). Culturally Responsive Teaching & the Brain. Corwin.
- Hefflin, B.R., & Barksdale-Ladd, M.A. (2001). African American children's literature that helps students find themselves: Selection guidelines for grades K-3. *The Reading Teacher*, *54*(8), 810-819.
- Hill.A.L. (2012). Culturally responsive teaching: An investigation of effective practices for African American learners (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest.
- Hinckley, J. (1995). Urban music education: Providing for students. *Music Educators Journal*, 82(1), 32-35.
- Hiraldo, P. (2010). The role of critical race theory in higher education. The Vermont

- Connection, 31, 54-59.
- Husband, T. (2012). Addressing Reading Underachievement in African American Boys through a Multi-Contextual Approach. *Reading Horizons*, 52(1), 1-25.
- Irvine, J. J. (2002). In search of wholeness: African-American teachers and their culturally specific classroom practices. New York: Palgrave.
- Irving, M. A., & Hudley, C. (2005). *Cultural, mistrust, academic outcome expectations,* and outcome values among African American adolescent men. Urban Education, 40(5), 476–496.
- Jacobs, J. (2009) Obama: Fathers need to step up. Retrieved from:

 https://thehill.com/blogs/blog-briefing-room/news/lawmaker-news/47624-obama-fathers-need-to-step-up
- Janesick, V. (2004). "Stretching" Exercises for Qualitative Researchers. Thousand Oaks, London and New Delhi: Sage.
- Jay, M. (2003). "Critical race theory, multicultural education, and the hidden curriculum of hegemony." *Multicultural Perspectives: Official Journal of the National Association for Multicultural Education*, 5(4), 3-9.
- Kirkland, D. E., & Jackson, A. (2009). We real cool: Toward a theory of black masculine literacies. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 44(3), 278-297.
- King, Nigel (2004) Using templates in the thematic analysis of text. In: Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research. Sage, pp. 256-270.
- Kluger, R. (2004). Simple justice: The history of Brown v. Board of Education and Black

 Americas struggle for equality. New York: Vintage Books.
- Kunjufu, J. (1982). Countering the conspiracy to destroy Black boys. Chicago: African

- American Images.
- Kuykendall, C. (1989). *Improving black student achievement by enhancing students' self-image*. Chevy Chase: The Mid-Atlantic Equity Center.
- Kuykendall, C. (1992). From rage to hope: Strategies for reclaiming black and Hispanic students. Bloomington, IN: National Education Service.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1994). *The dream keepers: Successful teachers of African American Children*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1998). Just what is critical race theory and what's it doing in a nice field like education? *Qualitative Studies in Education*, 11(1), 7-25.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2010). Just what is critical race theory and what's it doing in a nice field like education? *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, (11)1, 7-24.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2014). Culturally Relevant Pedagogy 2.0: aka the Remix. *Harvard Educational Review* (1)74.
- Lather, P. (1986). Issues of validity in openly ideological research: Between a rock and a soft place. *Interchange*, *17*, 63-84.
- Ledesma, M.C., & Calderon, D. (2015). Critical race theory in education: A review of past literature and a look to the future. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(3), 206-222.
- Lee, C. (1995). A culturally-based cognitive apprenticeship: Teaching African-American high school students' skills in literary interpretation. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 30, 608-630.
- Lincoln, YS. & Guba, EG. (1985). *Naturalistic Inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Logan, S., & Johnston, R. (2009). Gender differences in reading ability and attitudes:

- Examining where these differences lie. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 32(2), 199-214.
- Lynch, M. (2018). Poverty and school funding: why low-income students often suffer.

 Retrieved on May 2, 2019 from https://www.theedadvocate.org/poverty-and-school-funding-why-low-income-students-often-suffer/.
- Macrine, S.L. (2010). Barriers to inclusion of culturally and linguistically diverse students. *Peace Studies Journal*, *3*(1), 76-90. Retrieved from http://peaceconsortium.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/01/Sheila-L.-Macrine-Pg-76-90.pdf
- McCoy, D.L., Rodricks, D.J. (2015). Critical race theory in higher education: 20 years theoretical and research innovations. *ASHE Higher Education Report*, 41(3), 1-117.
- McGee, L. M., & Richgels, D. J. (1996). *Literacy's beginnings: supporting young readers and writers*. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- McKenna, M. Kear, D. and Ellsworth, R. (1995) Children's attitudes toward reading: A national survey. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 30(4), 934-956.
- McKenzie, W. (2002). The innovative teaching newsletter. *Balanced Literacy*, 5 (12).

 Retrieved April 2, 2020, from http://surafaquariumcornlnewsletter/
 balanced.html.
- Mendez, L., & Knoff, H. M. (2003). Who gets suspended from school and why: A demographic analysis of schools and disciplinary infractions in a large school district. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 26(1), 30-51.
- Merriam, S. B. A. (2002). Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and

- analysis (1st ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Monobe, G., & Son, E. H. (2014). Using Children's Literature and Drama to Explore Children's Lives in the Context of Global Conflicts. *The Social Studies*, 105(2), 69-74.
- Morrier, M.J., Irving, M.A., Dandy, E., Dmitriyev, G., & Ukeje, I.C. (2007). Teaching and learning within and across cultures: Educator requirements across the United States. *Multicultural Education*, *14*(3), 32-40. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/PDFS/EJ762420.pdf
- Morris, D. (2011). Critical literacy: Crisis and choices in the current arrangement. In J.B.
- Cobb & M.K. Kallus (Eds.), *Historical, theoretical, and sociological foundations of reading in the United States* (pp. 286-315). Boston: Pearson.
- Moustakas, C. E. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage.
- Murphy, R., & Daniel, A. (2019). Huntsville ISD. Retrieved from https://schools.texastribune.org/districts/huntsville-isd/
- The NAEP Glossary of Terms. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/glossary.aspx#t
- National Center for Children in Poverty. (2018). Retrieved from http://www.nccp.org/topics/childpoverty.html.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (1994). National Assessment of Educational

 Progress: Nation's report card. Retrieved from

 http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2006). National Assessment of Educational

- Progress: Nation's report card. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2010). National Assessment of Educational

 Progress: Nation's report card. Retrieved from

 http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/
- Noddings, N. (2005). *The challenge to care in schools: an alternative approach to education*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Noguera, P.A. (2003). The trouble with black boys: The role and influence of environmental and cultural factors on the academic performance of African American males. *Urban Education*, *38*(4), 431–459.
- Oakley, W. (2018). Educators can pave the path to equity. *The Learning Professional*, 39(6), 10–12.
- O'Byrne, W. I. (2018). What is "Critical Literacy" in Education? Retrieved October 22, 2018, from https://wiobyrne.com/critical-literacy/
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2003). Expanding the framework of internal and external validity in quantitative research. *Research in the Schools*, 10, 71-90.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, N. L. (2007). Validity and qualitative research: An oxymoron?
- Patmon, D. (2007). Learning While Black. Community Voices on Race, Education, and the Boston Public Schools. The New England Journal of Higher Education; Summer 2007; 22, 1; ProQuest Education Journals. Pg. 13.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods (3rd ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Pirani, F. (2018). Black boys fare worse than 99 percent of white boys, mass study finds. .

 Retrieved January 1, 2019 from https://www.ajc.com/news/national/black-boys-fare-worse-than-white-boys-percent-america-massive-study-finds/27qxzSKkxobMfsUmDZpALL/
- Protacio, M. S. (2012). Reading motivation: A focus on English Learners. *The Reading Teacher*, 66, 69-77.
- Railton, N. (2015). Lessons in culture: Oral storytelling in a literature classroom. Changing English, 22(1),50-59.
- Rothon, C., Arephin, M., Klineberg, E., Cattel, V., & Standfield, S. (2010). Structural and socio-psychological influences on adolescents' educational aspirations and subsequent academic achievement. *Social Psychological Education*, *14*(2), 209-231.
- Rothstein, R. (2014). The Racial Achievement Gap, Segregated Schools, and Segregated Neighborhoods: A Constitutional Insult. *Race and Social Problems*, 7(1), 21-30.
- Rowley, R. & Wright, D. (2011) No "White" Child Left Behind: The Academic Achievement Gap between Black and White Students. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 80(2), 93-107.
- Sainsbury, M. & Schagen, I. (2004). Attitudes to reading at ages nine and eleven. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 27(4), 373–386.
- Saldaña, J. (2012). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Sen, R., (2006). A positive future for black boys: Building the movement. Cambridge,

 MA: The Schott Foundation for Public Education.

- Shade, B. J., Kelly, C., & Oberg, M. (1997). *Creating culturally responsive classrooms*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Smith, E. (1995). Anchored in our literature: Students responding to African American Literature. *Language Arts*, 72(8), 571-574.
- Smith, J.A., Flower, P., and Larkin, M. (2009). Interpretative Phenomenological

 Analysis: Theory, Method and Research., *Qualitative Research in Psychology*,
 6:4, 346-347.
- Smith, J. & Osborn, M. (2007). Qualitative Psychology.
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2008). Teacher expectations and urban black males' success in school: Implications for academic leaders. *Academic Leadership*, 6(2), 29-34.
- Tatum, A.W. (2003). All "degreed" up and nowhere to go: Black males and literacy education. *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy* (46)8, 620-623.
- Tatum, A. W. (2006, February). Engaging African American Males in Reading.

 Retrieved July 20, 2018, from

 http://www.ascd.org/ASCD/pdf/journals/ed_lead/el200602_tatum.pdf
- Tatum, A. W. (2008). Toward a more anatomically complete model of literacy instruction: A focus on African American male adolescents and texts. *Harvard Educational Review*, 78(1), 155-180.
- Tatum, A. W. (2009). Reading for their life: Rebuilding the textual lineages of African-American adolescent males. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Tatum, A.W. (2018) Reauthorizing Literacy Practices for African American boys.

 Retrieved from https://www.coseboc.org/news-article/alfred-tatum-literacy
- Taxel, J. (1992). The politics of children's literature: Reflections of multiculturalism,

- political correctness, and Christopher Columbus. *Teaching multicultural literature in grades K-8*,1 -38. Norwood MA: Christopher-Gordon.
- Taylor, L., & Hoechsmann, M. (2011). Beyond intellectual insularity: Multicultural literacy as a measure of respect. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 34(2), 219-238.
- Texas Education Agency. (2019). Educator Reports and Data. Retrieved from https://tea.texas.gov/reports-and-data/educator-data/educator-reports-and-data
- Tracey, D. H., & Morrow, L. M. (2006). Lenses on reading: An introduction to theories and models. New York: Guilford Press.
- United States Census Bureau. (2017). Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/PST045218
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind In Society: Development of Higher Psychological Processes.* Harvard UP.
- Webb-Johnson, G. (2002). Are schools ready for Joshua? Dimensions of African-American culture among students identified as having behavioral/emotional disorders. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 15(6), 653–671.
- Yosso, T.J., & Solorazano, D.G. (2007). Conceptualizing a critical race theory in sociology. The Blackwell Companion to Social Inequalities. MA: Blackwell.
- Zygmunt, E., & Clark, P. (2015). *Transforming Teacher Education for Social Justice*.

 Teachers College Press.

APPENDIX A

Survey

Your participation and honest feedback are critical to my study. To ensure confidentiality of your responses, all statements will be kept private with no names used in the report. Thank you for your participation.

in the report. Thank you for your participation. **Demographics:** Please circle the appropriate number or fill in where required. 1. What is your Gender? o Female o Male 2. What is your Race/Ethnicity? o Black, Non Hispanic o Hispanic / Latino American o White, Non Hispanic o Biracial/Multi-racial (Belonging to more than one racial group) o Other (please specify)_____ 3. Please indicate the total number of years teaching with this school district: o Less than 1 year o 1 to 4 years o 5 years or more 4. Please indicate the total number of years teaching experience: o Less than 1 year o 1 to 4 years o 5 years or more 5. Please indicate the subjects you have taught: o Reading/Language Arts o Math o Science

o Social Studies

o Other: _____

APPENDIX B

Questionnaire

Your participation and honest feedback are critical to my study. To ensure confidentiality of your responses, all statements will be kept private with no names used in the report. Thank you for your participation.

e report. Thank you for your participation.						
1.	How do you meet the literacy needs of all of your students in regard to the different cultures of students?					
2.	Tell me your thoughts about multicultural literacy.					
3.	How do you implement multicultural literacy in your classroom? (instructional practices, instructional strategies, literature taught, etc.)					
4.	How do you ensure engagement for all students, especially the young African American males in your classroom?					

APPENDIX C

Participation Invitation Letter

Dear Invitee,

My name is Ashley Murray. I am a doctoral student at Sam Houston State University's Literacy Program. I am kindly requesting your participation in a doctoral research study that I am conducting titled: Teachers' Perceptions of Multicultural Literacy as a means to engage African American males in grades 5-8. I am working under the supervision of Dr. Nancy Votteler. Dr. Votteler can be reached at (936) 294-1135 or via email at nkvotteler@shsu.edu.

The study involves initially completing a survey and questionnaire to find out which teachers meet the criteria. Participants that meet the criteria will be asked to complete one or two semi-structured interviews. Participation is completely voluntary, and you may withdraw from the study at any time.

The study is completely anonymous; therefore, it does not require you to provide your name or any other identifying information. If you would like to participate in the study, please read the Informed Consent letter below. Your participation in the research will be of great importance to assist in learning about teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as well as how teachers are engaging young African American males in their classroom.

Thank you for your time and participation. If you have any questions regarding your rights as a participant, please contact Mrs. Sharla Miles in the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs at (936) 294-4875 or via email at sharla_miles@shsu.edu.

Sincerely,

Ashley Murray, Doctoral Student, Sam Houston State University

Appendix D

Letter of Consent

You are invited to take part in a research study about teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy as a means to engage young African American males in grades 5-8. The researcher is inviting current Language Arts teachers who teach grades 5-8. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part. This study is being conducted by researcher, Ashley Murray, who is a doctoral student at Sam Houston State University. This research study is under the supervision of Dr. Nancy Votteler. Dr. Votteler can be reached at (936) 294-1135 or via email at nkyotteler@shsu.edu.

Background Information: The purpose of this study is to explore teachers' perceptions of multicultural literacy and learn about instructional practices used to engage young African American males in the classroom.

Procedures: If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:

- You will be asked to complete a brief demographic survey that includes five questions that will take approximately one minute to complete.
- You will be asked to complete a questionnaire that includes 4 questions that will take approximately 15 minutes to complete.
- You will be asked to participate in one or two semi-structured interviews. Each interview should take about 30 minutes to complete.

Voluntary Nature of the Study: This study is completely voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you choose to be in the study. No one associated with this study will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. Additionally, this study is completely anonymous, no one will know if you did nor did not participate. If you decide to join the study now, you can still change your mind later. You may stop at any time.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study: Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing. The benefits of the study include voicing your thoughts and concerns regarding multicultural literacy in your classroom and ways to engage young African American males in the classroom.

Payment: This study is completely voluntary; there will be no reimbursement or payment for time.

Privacy: Any information you provide will be kept confidential. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. Interview data will be kept secured by password protection and data encryption and will remain confidential. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years,

as required by the university. Contacts and Questions: If you have questions now or at a later time, you may contact the researcher, Ashley Murray, via stdaxd14@shsu.edu or if you have any questions regarding your rights as a participant, please contact Mrs. Sharla Miles in the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs at (936) 294-4875 or via email at sharla_miles@shsu.edu. You can ask any questions you have before you begin the survey and questionnaire. Please print or save this consent form for your records.

Statement of Consent: I have read the above information. I feel I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement. I will continue and complete the survey and questionnaire if I agree with these terms.

APPENDIX E

TABLE 3: Participants

Table 3

Language Arts Teachers Grades 5-8 (N=6)

Participant (pseudonym)	Gender	Race	Years of Teaching Experience	Certification Program
Carrie	Female	Caucasian	5-7 years	Alt. Certification
Mary	Female	Hispanic	5-7 years	Alt. Certification
Josie	Female	Caucasian	5-7 years	University
Gary	Male	African Amer.	13-15 years	Alt. Certification
Cindy	Female	Caucasian	8-10 years	University
Amy	Female	Caucasian	5-7 years	Alt. Certification

VITA

Ashley Murray, M.L.A.

Education

Sam Houston State University Doctoral Student in Literacy	2016
Southern Methodist University Master's in Liberal Arts	2004
The University of Texas at Austin Bachelor's in Government	2002
Academic Positions	
Instructional Coach Huntsville Intermediate, Huntsville ISD	2018-present
Language Arts Teacher Huntsville Intermediate, Huntsville ISD	2013-2018
High School English Teacher Huntsville High School, Huntsville ISD	2011-2013
High School English Teacher Heritage Champions Academy, Responsive Education	2007-2009
<u>Honors</u>	
Team Excellence in Professional Learning Learning Forward	2019
Outstanding Student in Doctoral Literacy Program Sam Houston State University	2018
Educator of the Month Huntsville ISD	2018

Professional Presentations

Gerber, H., Murray, A., Maynard, C., Panozzo, M., Gates, J., Rice, R., Stowkes, F., B. Muse., (2018, November). "On being a literacy education doctoral student in the digital age: Phenomenological exploration of contemporary doctoral education". Roundtable presentation in the National Council of Teachers of English, Houston, TX.

Professional Membership and Affiliation

International Literacy Association National Council of Teachers of English Learning Forward Texas